

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com





Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1758 (2006) 2057-2079

www.elsevier.com/locate/bbamem

Review

Sphingolipid metabolism diseases

Thomas Kolter, Konrad Sandhoff *

Kekulé-Institut für Organische Chemie und Biochemie der Universität, Gerhard-Domagk-Str. 1, D-53121 Bonn, Germany

Received 23 December 2005; received in revised form 26 April 2006; accepted 23 May 2006 Available online 14 June 2006

Abstract

Human diseases caused by alterations in the metabolism of sphingolipids or glycosphingolipids are mainly disorders of the degradation of these compounds. The sphingolipidoses are a group of monogenic inherited diseases caused by defects in the system of lysosomal sphingolipid degradation, with subsequent accumulation of non-degradable storage material in one or more organs. Most sphingolipidoses are associated with high mortality. Both, the ratio of substrate influx into the lysosomes and the reduced degradative capacity can be addressed by therapeutic approaches. In addition to symptomatic treatments, the current strategies for restoration of the reduced substrate degradation within the lysosome are enzyme replacement therapy (ERT), cell-mediated therapy (CMT) including bone marrow transplantation (BMT) and cell-mediated "cross correction", gene therapy, and enzyme-enhancement therapy with chemical chaperones. The reduction of substrate influx into the lysosomes can be achieved by substrate reduction therapy. Patients suffering from the attenuated form (type 1) of Gaucher disease and from Fabry disease have been successfully treated with ERT.

© 2006 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Ceramide; Lysosomal storage disease; Saposin; Sphingolipidose

Contents

| 1. | Sphin | golipid structure, function and biosynthesis | | | |
|----|-------|--|--|--|--|
| | 1.1. | Less precisely defined is the role of sphingolipids in cancer [25] | | | |
| | 1.2. | Biosynthesis | | | |
| 2. | Glyco | ilycosphingolipid catabolism | | | |
| | 2.1. | Topology | | | |
| | 2.2. | Sphingolipid activator proteins | | | |
| | 2.3. | Intralysosomal membranes | | | |
| 3. | Sphin | golipidoses | | | |
| | 3.1. | GM1-gangliosidosis | | | |
| | 3.2. | GM2-gangliosidoses | | | |
| | 3.3. | Tay-Sachs disease | | | |
| | 3.4. | Sandhoff disease | | | |
| | 3.5. | AB-variant of GM2-gangliosidosis | | | |
| | 3.6. | Fabry disease | | | |
| | 3.7. | Gaucher disease | | | |
| | 3.8. | Metachromatic leukodystrophy | | | |
| | 3.9. | Krabbe disease | | | |
| | 3.10. | Niemann-Pick disease, type A and B | | | |
| | 3.11. | Farber disease | | | |

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +49 228 73 53 46; fax: +49 228 73 77 78.

E-mail addresses: tkolter@uni-bonn.de (T. Kolter), sandhoff@uni-bonn.de (K. Sandhoff).

| | 3.12. | Deficiency of Saposins (Saps) | | | | |
|------------------|------------------------|-------------------------------|--------------------------|--------|--|--|
| | | 3.12.1. | Prosaposin | 2068 | | |
| | | 3.12.2. | Sap-A | 2068 | | |
| | | 3.12.3. | Sap-B deficiency | 2068 | | |
| | | 3.12.4. | Sap-C deficiency | 2068 | | |
| | | 3.12.5. | Sap-D | 2068 | | |
| 4. | Pathog | genesis of s | spingolipidoses | 2069 | | |
| 5. | Diagn | osis | | . 2070 | | |
| 6. | Therapeutic approaches | | | | | |
| | 6.1. | Enzyme re | eplacement therapy (ERT) | . 2070 | | |
| | 6.2. | Cell-media | ated therapy (CMT) | . 2070 | | |
| | 6.3. | Gene there | ару | . 2070 | | |
| | 6.4. | Enzyme-e | whancement therapy | . 2071 | | |
| | 6.5. | Substrate | reduction therapy (SRT) | . 2071 | | |
| Acknowledgements | | | | | | |
| References | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

1. Sphingolipid structure, function and biosynthesis

Together with glycerophospholipids and cholesterol, sphingolipids are building blocks of eukaryotic membranes. They are characterized by the presence of a sphingoid base within the hydrophobic part of the molecule. In sphingomyelin and the glycosphingolipids, a phosphorylcholine or a carbohydrate moiety are bound to the terminal hydroxyl group of ceramide (*N*-acylsphingosine), respectively (Fig. 1) [1].

Glycosphingolipids display a high structural diversity and can be classified into series, which are characteristic for a group of evolutionary related organisms [1]. On cellular surfaces, glycosphingolipids form characteristic patterns that are speciesand cell-type specific and change with cell growth, differentiation, viral transformation, ontogenesis, and oncogenesis [2]. In the plasma membrane, they are believed to segregate into preexisting microdomains [3,4], which are enriched in glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored proteins, sphingomyelin, and cholesterol. These so-called lipid rafts [5,6] might constitute the physiological surroundings of many membrane proteins.

Glycosphingolipids are essential for development and survival of multicellular organisms [7]; they play a role in cell adhesion phenomena [8,9] and in the regulation of membrane proteins. Thus, absence of ganglioside GM3 in vivo leads to enhanced insulin receptor phosphorylation and increased insulin sensitivity [10]. Correct sphingolipid processing is also vital for the barrier function of the human skin [11], where ceramides of the stratum corneum contribute to the water permeability barrier. Skin ceramides occur in free form [12], or covalently linked to proteins of the cornified envelope [13]. In addition to disorders caused by alterations of sphingolipid metabolism, sphingolipids are involved in a variety of diseases [14]. In infectious diseases, sphingolipids serve, e.g., as pathogen receptors [15–17] and can control pathogen infection and host defense [18]. In the immune system, glycosphingolipids play a role as antigens (ABO-System, Forssman), but can also stimulate the generation of autoantibodies in postinfectious autoimmune diseases like Guillain-Barré or Miller-Fisher Syndromes [19,20]. They are ligands for CD1d-restricted natural killer T-cells (NKT-cells)

[32]; for example, the highly immunogenic, non-human α galactosylphytoceramide activates a subset of NKT cells. This glycosphingolipid from the marine sponge *Agelas mauritianus* [21] has gained much interest as a potential drug in the treatment of cancer and autoimmune diseases [22,23]. An endogenous sphingolipid ligand for CD1d and important for the maturation of NKT-cells appears to be isoglobotriaosylceramide. This was demonstrated by a deficiency of invariant NKT-cells in β hexosaminidase B-deficient mice, the animal model of Sandhoff diseases, which cannot convert isoglobotetraosylceramide into isoglobotriaosylceramide [24].

1.1. Less precisely defined is the role of sphingolipids in cancer [25]

Intermediates of sphingolipid metabolism appear to be involved in the transduction of extracellular signals into the interior of cells. Ceramide can be released from sphingomyelin or by *de-novo* synthesis in response to substances like vitamin D3, tumor necrosis factor α , γ -interferon, or interleukin 1. In most cell types, ceramide mediates antimitogenic responses such as cell differentiation, cell cycle arrest, cell senescence or apoptosis [26]. Also other intermediates of sphingolipid metabolism such as sphingosine, sphingosylphosphorylcholine [27], sphingosine-1phosphate and ceramide-1-phosphate [28,29], are regarded as signalling substances. Accordingly, the benefit of pharmacological interference with sphingolipid-mediated processes has been investigated for several diseases [30,31].

Not only sphingolipids–including the signalling substances sphingosine-1-phosphate and ceramide–contribute to many physiological and pathological processes, but also the proteins operating in the sphingolipid pathway can serve different functions. For example, sphingolipid activator proteins are required for the presentation of lipid antigens to CD1 molecules [32].

1.2. Biosynthesis

The first steps of glycosphingolipid biosynthesis lead to the formation of ceramide at the cytoplasmic face of the ER



Fig. 1. Structures of ganglioside GM2, bis(monoacylglycero)phosphate (BMP, LBPA), sphingomyelin, and ceramide.

membrane [1,33]. From there, ceramide is transferred to the Golgi apparatus with the aid of a transfer protein, CERT [34]. On the cytosolic leaflet of the Golgi membrane, glucosylceramide is formed and translocated to the luminal face, presumably by multidrug transporters [35,36]. Subsequent glycosidation reactions are catalyzed by glycosyltransferases in the Golgi apparatus [37,38]. In the case of gangliosides, the limited specificity of some of the transferases [39] gives rise to complex patterns on the cell surface within a combinatorial biosynthetic pathway [40]. Genetically modified mice deficient in glucosylceramide synthase die as early as embryonic day 7.5 [41], indicating a role of glucosylceramide or higher glycosphingolipids in embryogenesis. In most cell types, de novobiosynthesis constitutes only a minor pathway for sphingolipid formation; metabolic labelling studies indicate that the majority of glycosphingolipids are formed by the recycling of building blocks within a salvage-pathway [42]. After their biosynthesis, glycosphingolipids reach the plasma membrane through vesicular exocytotic membrane flow.

By far, most of the human diseases associated with sphingolipid metabolism are degradation disorders. There are

only a few human diseases known so far that are caused by alteration of biosynthetic enzymes. Hereditary sensory neuropathy, type I, is caused by mutations in the SPTLC1 gene leading to an increase in serine palmitoyltransferase activity, subsequent elevation of ceramide levels, and enhanced neuronal apoptosis [43,44]. A deficiency of a biosynthetic enzyme associated with a human disease is reported for lactosylceramide $\alpha 2,3$ sialyltransferase (GM3-synthase). Deficiency of this enzyme causes an autosomal recessive infantile-onset symptomatic epilepsy syndrome [45]. There is also some evidence that type 9 of the neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis might be caused by a defect of a sphinganine acyltransferase regulator protein and subsequent impairment of dihydroceramide biosynthesis [46].

2. Glycosphingolipid catabolism

The lysosomal degradation of membranes requires transport and lipid sorting steps, before glycosphingolipids and other membrane components can be degraded [47]. The cleavage products, monosaccharides, sialic acid, fatty acids, and sphingosine, are able to leave the lysosome. This is mainly facilitated by transporters localized in the endosomal and lysosomal perimeter membranes.

2.1. Topology

Lysosomes digest extracellular and intracellular macromolecules that enter the organelle by endocytosis, phagocytosis, or autophagy. Plasma membrane components reach the lysosomal compartment via endocytotic vesicular flow [48], either as intraendosomal and intralysosomal membranes, or as part of the limiting membrane [49] (Fig. 2). Both membrane pools differ in their lipid and protein composition. The major part of membrane digestion proceeds on the surface of internal membrane structures. In contrast to this pool, the perimeter membrane is protected from degradation by a glycocalix (Fig. 2) composed of glycoproteins amply glycosylated with lactosamine units [50]. Intraendosomal and intralysosomal membranes of appropriate lipid composition can be degraded by lysosomal hydrolases in the presence of sphingolipid activator proteins and other lipid transfer proteins.

These internal membranes have been initially observed in cells from patients with sphingolipid storage diseases such as GM1 gangliosidosis [51] or combined sphingolipid activator protein deficiency [52], where they accumulate as multivesicular storage bodies. Sphingolipid activator proteins are required for membrane digestion, therefore, the essentials of lysosomal glycolipid digestion [47] are briefly discussed here.



Fig. 2. Endocytosis and lysosomal digestion of membranes. Glycosphingolipids (GSL) are highlighted on the plasma membrane (PM) and on internal membranes [47]. Parts of the plasma membrane including GSLs are incorporated into the membrane of intraendosomal vesicles and membrane structures during endocytosis. The vesicles reach the lysosomal compartment when late endosomes are transiently fused with primary lysosomes. They are the sites of membrane digestion. The lysosomal perimeter membrane is protected from degradation by a thick glycocalix. EGFR: epidermal growth factor receptor.

2.2. Sphingolipid activator proteins

Monosaccharide residues from the nonreducing end of the oligosaccharide part of the glycosphingolipids are sequentially cleaved off by the action of acid exohydrolases. The substrates of these enzymes are embedded in intraendosomal and intralysosomal membranes [53-55], whereas the enzymes are dissolved in the lysosol. In vivo, GSLs with less than four sugar residues [56] are only degraded in the presence of sphingolipid activator proteins (SAPs). In vitro, these SAPs can often be replaced by detergents. SAPs mediate the interaction between the membrane bound lipid substrate and the water-soluble enzyme or activate the enzyme directly. In vivo, enzymatic hydrolysis of most membrane-bound sphingolipids is also stimulated by anionic lysosomal lipids, especially by bis-(monoacylglycero)-phosphate (BMP, lysobisphosphatidic acid), which concentrates in the inner membranes of lysosomes [57]. As indicated in Fig. 3, many catabolic reactions in this pathway require the presence of an activator protein.

To date, five sphingolipid activator proteins (SAPs) are known: the GM2 activator protein and the four saposins (Saps) -A, -B, -C, and -D [79]. The GM2-activator is an essential cofactor in the *in-vivo* degradation of ganglioside GM2 by β hexosaminidase A [58]; the inherited deficiency of this protein leads to the AB variant of GM2 gangliosidoses (Fig. 4).

For the presentation of ganglioside GM2 or related glycosphingolipids, e.g., GM1 [56], to the active site of the degrading enzyme, the GM2-activator has to insert into the bilayer of intralysosomal lipid vesicles. Results from in vitro experiments indicate that the GM2-activator can insert into a model membrane only below a critical lateral pressure of 15 to 25 mN/m [59]. The lipid recognition site of the activator interacts with the substrate, so that the hydrophobic ceramide portion of the substrate becomes embedded in the hydrophobic cavity of the activator protein. After a conformational change of the lipid-loaded activator increasing the water-solubility of the complex, this is released from the membrane, and ganglioside GM2 is presented to the enzyme and is subsequentially degraded [60].

The Saps or saposins A–D are glycoproteins with molecular weights of 8–11 kDa [79]. They belong to a family of saposinlike proteins with lipid binding- and membrane perturbing properties [32]. Although the four Saps share a high degree of homology [61] and some properties, they act differentially and show different specificity. This leads to the different phenotypes of the different Sap deficiencies (see Section 3.12) Besides their function as enzyme cofactors, sphingolipid activator proteins play an important role in lipid antigen presentation. They participate in the loading of lipid antigens to immunoreceptors such as human CD1b [62], human [63], and mouse CD1d [64].

2.3. Intralysosomal membranes

The degradation of intralysosomal membranes depends on their lipid composition. Intralysosomal membranes, but not the lysosomal perimeter membrane, are enriched in bis-(monoacylglycero)-phosphate (BMP), which is biosynthetically



Fig. 3. Degradation of selected sphingolipids in the lysosomes of the cells [47]. The eponyms of individual inherited diseases are given. Activator proteins required for the respective degradation step in vivo are indicated. Variant AB, AB variant of GM2 gangliosidosis (deficiency of GM2-activator protein); Sap, saposin.

formed during the degradation of phosphatidylglycerol and cardiolipin, [65,66] presumably on the surface of these vesicles. Due to its unusual sn1,sn1'-configuration, BMP has a sufficiently long lifetime in spite of the presence of the lysosomal phospholipases [67]. Other anionic lipids like phosphatidylinositol [68] and dolichol phosphate [69], albeit in smaller amounts than BMP, are also found within the lysosomal compartment. Furthermore, cholesterol is almost absent in lysosomes [57]. High amounts of BMP and low amounts of cholesterol in internal lysosomal membranes appear to be required for the degradation of glycosphingolipids.

Decreasing amounts of cholesterol in artificial vesicles increase the membrane-perturbing capability of Sap-A (Locatelli Hoops, S., Klingenstein, R. and Sandhoff, K., unpublished), Sap-B, and Sap-D (Remmel, N. and Sandhoff, K., unpublished). The presence of BMP in these vesicles increases the ability of the GM2activator [70], Sap-B, and Sap-D (Remmel, N. and Sandhoff, K., unpublished) to solubilize lipids. BMP also stimulates degradation of sphingomyelin by acid sphingomyelinase [186], ceramide by acid ceramidase [198], and glucosylceramide by glucosylceramide-β-glucosidase [137]. In addition, negatively charged lysosomal lipids drastically stimulate the



Fig. 4. Model of GM2-activator-stimulated hydrolysis of ganglioside GM2 by human β -hexosaminidase A [60]. The glycolipid binding site is lined by two hydrophobic (V90-W94 and V153-L163) surface loops and a single short helix. The most flexible of the loops (V153-L163) controls the entrance to the hydrophobic cavity allowing both, an open and closed conformation. GM2AP=GM2-activator protein, Hex A= β -hexosaminidase A.

interfacial hydrolysis of membrane-bound ganglioside GM1 by GM1- β -galactosidase [137]. A similar stimulation was demonstrated for the degradation of ganglioside GM2 by β -hexosaminidase A [70], and for the sulfated gangliotriao-sylceramide SM2 by β -hexosaminidases A and S [103] in the presence of the GM2-activator protein. Furthermore, in the presence of Sap-C, a drastic enhancement of glucosylceramide degradation by glucosylceramide- β -glucosidase can be produced by negatively charged model lipids such as phosphatidylserine, phosphatidylglycerol, and phosphatidic acid [71,72,133].

3. Sphingolipidoses

Together with mucopolysaccharidoses, mucolipidoses, glycoprotein, and glycogen storage diseases, sphingolipidoses belong to the lysosomal storage diseases (LSDs) [73–77]. With a collective frequency of 1 in 7000–8000 live births [78], the LSDs are rare disorders. About 40 genetically different forms are known. Defects in enzymes, cofactors (such as sphingolipid activator proteins [79]), but also in the targeting or transport systems involved in the degradation process can lead to a LSD.

The sphingolipidoses [80] are a group of inherited diseases, which are caused by defects in genes encoding proteins involved in the lysosomal degradation of sphingolipids. The diseases are usually named according to the identity of the storage material [75,81]. The mode of inheritance is autosomal recessive with the exception of Fabry disease [115]. According to the strictly sequential degradation pathway of glycosphingo-lipids in humans, defects for almost every step in the degradation of these lipids have been described. An exception is the degradation of lactosylceramide, which can be degraded by two different enzyme/activator systems [82]. Therefore, no single enzyme defect is known that leads to isolated lactosylceramide storage. Together with other sphingolipids, however, lactosylceramide accumulates when various cofactors are absent, as it is the case in prosaposin deficiency [209].

Most enzymes and cofactors deficient in the sphingolipidoses have been characterized, their genes have been cloned, and animal models of most of the sphingolipidoses have been created by targeted disruption of the respective genes in mice [83,84]. Although many of the different sphingolipidoses have been sub-classified into types that differ in course and onset, there is a clinical continuum for these diseases. As it will be discussed below, this is largely caused by differences in the residual activities of the defective proteins.

3.1. GM1-gangliosidosis

GM1-gangliosidosis is caused by an inherited deficiency of the lysosomal enzyme GM1- β -galactosidase [85,86]. GM1- β galactosidase is a protein of 64 kDa, which is derived from an 88-kDa precursor (review: [86]). It occurs as part of a lysosomal multienzyme complex, together with sialidase, the so-called protective protein [87], cathepsin A, and *N*-acetylaminogalacto-6-sulfate sulfatase [88]. GM1- β -galactosidase catalyses the hydrolysis of ganglioside GM1 to GM2 in the presence of either the GM2-activator protein or Sap-B [56]. According to the substrate specificity of the variant enzyme, an inherited defect can also lead to another disorder, Morquio disease, type B. Storage of galactosylceramide-β-galactosidase substrates, galactosylceramide and lactosylceramide, does not occur. Three clinical forms of GM1-gangliosidosis can be distinguished: In infantile (type 1) GM1-gangliosidosis, developmental arrest and progressive deterioration of the nervous system occur in early infancy. Characteristic symptoms are exaggerated startle responses to sound, a macular cherry-red spot, hepatosplenomegaly, rigospasticity associated with seizures, and generalized skeletal dysplasia. Most patients die within the first 2 years of life.

The late infantile/juvenile form (type 2) is characterized by progressive neurologic symptoms in children, and the adult/ chronic form (type 3) occurs in young adults. In adults, extrapyramidal signs frequently presenting as dystonia are the most common neurologic manifestations. Dysmorphic changes are less prominent or absent in these clinical forms.

Apart from the ganglioside GM1, other enzyme substrates also accumulate, such as glycolipid GA1 [89], oligosaccharides from glycoproteins, and intermediates of keratan sulfate degradation. These substances are stored in different organs, according to their major site of biosynthesis. Massive lysosomal GM1-storage in neurons leads to degeneration of the nervous system. On the other hand, formation of meganeurites and ectopic dendrogenesis are presumably due to the antineurotoxic [90], neuroprotective, and neurorestorative properties of ganglioside GM1 in the plasma membrane. Like in other storage diseases, a neuroinflammatory response has been implicated in the pathogenesis of GM1-gangliosidosis [249]. Like in other neurodegenerative diseases [258], an unfolded protein response has been identified in the mouse model of the disease [91]: Mislocalized GM1 activates ER-chaperones and leads to neuronal apoptosis. The severity and progression of the disease correlates with the residual enzymatic activity in cells and body fluids [92].

Gene mutations identified in GM1 gangliosidosis and Morquio B disease include missense/nonsense mutations, duplications/insertions, and insertions causing splicing defects. Neither the type, nor the location of mutations in the gene of GM1-β-galactosidase could be correlated to the phenotype of the patients. Also, mutations within the protective protein can cause accumulation of ganglioside GM1 via destabilization of the β -galactosidase. An engineered mouse model resembling the neurological phenotype of human GM1-gangliosidosis is available [93]. Spontaneous animal models of this disease, such as feline and canine, are also known [86]. A successful treatment of this disease is not available to date; bone marrow transplantation did not correct the neurological phenotype of the juvenile variant of the disease [94]. A chemical chaperone therapy for the brain pathology has been suggested [95], and substrate reduction therapy reduces storage levels in the brain of the mouse model of the disease [96].

Morquio type B disease clinically resembles a mild phenotype of Morquio A disease, where keratan sulfate accumulates due to *N*-acetylgalactosamine-6-sulfatase deficiency. Like GM1-gangliosidosis, Morquio type B is due to the inherited defect of GM1- β -galactosidase. It is characterized by the predominant storage of keratan sulfate and oligosaccharides with terminal galactose residues. Patients show generalized skeletal dysplasia. Involvement of the nervous system and hepatosplenomegaly are absent. The differences between GM1 gangliosidosis and Morquio B disease can be attributed to a lower affinity and activity of β -galactosidase variants towards substrates with Gal- β 1,4-GlcNAc motifs in Morquio patients compared to the Gal- β 1,3-GalNAc motive present in ganglioside GM1 [97].

3.2. GM2-gangliosidoses

The GM2-Gangliosidoses [98,99] are caused by defects in degradation of ganglioside GM2 and related glycolipids leading to accumulation of these lipids, most fatally in neuronal cells. GM2 is degraded by cleavage of the β -glycosidic linkage between the N-acetylgalactosaminyl residue and the galactose residue by B-hexosaminidases. This reaction requires the GM2 activator protein in vivo. The three lysosomal β-hexosaminidases differ in the combination of their two subunits (α and β), and in their substrate specificity. β -Hexosaminidase A ($\alpha\beta$) cleaves off terminal B-glycosidically linked N-acetylglucosamine- and N-acetylgalactosamine residues from negatively charged and uncharged glycoconjugates by a retaining doubledisplacement mechanism. The enzyme has two active sites, one on the α -chain, and the other on the β -chain [100]. β -Hexosaminidase B ($\beta\beta$) predominantly cleaves uncharged substrates like glycolipid GA2 and oligosaccharides with terminal N-acetylhexosamine residues. The crystal structure of human β -hexosaminidase B [101,102] has been solved and shows the two active sites at the homodimer interface, where most of the alterations due to mutations leading to Sandhoff disease are located. β -Hexosaminidase S ($\alpha\alpha$)) is of secondary significance for GM2 degradation, but it contributes to the degradation of glycosaminoglycans and sulfated glycolipids [103].

The inborn deficiency of the GM2-activator as well as the deficiency of the α - or β -chain of the β -hexosaminidase isoenzymes leads to one of the three different variants of this disease that are named according to the isoenzyme remaining intact. The B-variant is due to an α -chain deficiency, and the subsequent deficiency of hexosaminidases A and S, but with normal hexosaminidase B. Its infantile form is usually called Tay–Sachs disease [104]. The 0-variant, or Sandhoff disease, is caused by the deficiency of the β -chain and the resulting deficient activity of β -hexosaminidase S. The AB-variant is a consequence of mutations in the GM2-activator gene and is characterized by normal activities of β -hexosaminidase A, -B, and -S towards the natural substrate GM2 in detergent-containing enzyme assays.

3.3. Tay–Sachs disease

Clinically, the B-variant of GM2-gangliosidoses can be subclassified into infantile, juvenile, chronic, and adult onset forms. The infantile form, known as Tay–Sachs disease, has a higher prevalence among Ashkenazi Jews with a heterozygote frequency of 1:27. Affected children are normal at birth and show first symptoms, such as mild motor weakness and increased startle reaction between 3 and 6 months of life. Weakness, hypotonia, poor head control, and decreasing attentiveness are observed and visual symptoms appear. A finding in most cases is a cherry red spot in the central retina of the patients. Motor, mental and visual abilities decline rapidly after about 10 month of age. Macrocephaly and seizures are common in the second year. Further deteriorations lead to a vegetative state. Death often occurs between the second and fourth year of life.

In the juvenile form, the first motor symptoms are noted between 2 and 6 years of age, and death occurs at the age of 10 to 15 years. At the end of the first decade, loss of speech, increasing spasticity, seizures, loss of vision, and progressive dementia are common manifestations. A vegetative state is finally reached and the patients die frequently as a consequence of intercurrent infections.

In the chronic form, clinical onset is between 2 and 5 years of age. Symptoms include abnormalities in gait and posture. With advanced age, distinct neurological symptoms appear. Mental and verbal intelligence as well as sensory modalities remain intact. The patients can reach an age of 40 years.

In the adult form, the symptoms are very heterogeneous. Neurological disorders such as spinal muscular atrophy and psychoses may be mimicked. Nevertheless, intelligence and visual capability are not affected.

The B1-variant of GM2-gangliosidoses [105,106] differs enzymatically from the B-variant by an altered substrate specificity of the mutated β -hexosaminidase A. While no activity is detected towards the natural substrate ganglioside GM2 and negatively charged synthetic substrates, synthetic uncharged substrates used for diagnosis are cleaved. The function of the α -chain active site is defective, whereas subunit association, enzyme processing, and the activity of the β -chain are not impaired. Homozygous patients with the B1-mutation show the course of the juvenile disease. However, a late infantile course was seen in compound heterozygotes with a B1 and a null allele.

3.4. Sandhoff disease

The 0-variant of GM2-gangliosidosis was the first gangliosidosis for which the underlying enzymatic defect was identified. It is characterized by storage of negatively charged glycolipids characteristic for Tay–Sachs disease, but also by elevation of uncharged glycolipids such as glycolipid GA2 in the brain and globoside in visceral organs [107]. Clinically, the following forms have been reported:

Infantile Sandhoff disease: In addition to the clinical and pathological manifestations present in Tay–Sachs disease (infantile B-variant), organomegaly and slight bone deformations may also occur.

Juvenile Sandhoff disease: first symptoms such as slurred speech, cerebellar ataxia, and psychomotor retardation appear at

3 to 10 years. Vision is normal, but spasticity increases and mental function deteriorates gradually.

Adult Sandhoff disease: The onset of symptoms is delayed to late adult life. The clinical manifestations in this chronic variant are similar to those of Tay–Sachs disease variants of corresponding ages, with the exception of additional accumulation of uncharged enzyme substrates.

3.5. AB-variant of GM2-gangliosidosis

In this variant, the deficiency of the GM2 activator protein [108] in the presence of normal β -hexosaminidase A, B, and S activity leads to the accumulation of glycolipids GM2 and GA2. The clinical picture resembles that of Tay–Sachs disease with a delayed appearance of symptoms.

Histopathologically, the GM2-gangliosidoses are characterized by the presence of swollen neurons with massive accumulation of storage material in membranous cytoplasmic bodies throughout the central and peripheral nervous system.

The pathogenesis of the GM2-gangliosidoses is not completely understood. Together with other membrane lipids and proteins, ganglioside GM2 accumulates and precipitates within the lysosomes of cells [99], particularly in neuronal cell bodies. Although the storage compounds themselves are neither toxic nor immunogenic, they induce inflammatory responses as demonstrated for glycoconjugates in the murine model of Sandhoff disease [109]. The toxic derivative lysoganglioside GM2 was found in patients with GM2-gangliosidosis [110,111]. It is not clear, however, if this contributes to the pathogenesis of the disease. The induction of misconnections in neuronal dendrites and other cellular processes might be one of the causes of the neurological phenotype. Undegraded storage material might reach, to some extent, cellular membranes like that of the Golgi apparatus or the plasma membrane, and alter membrane composition and function. Bone marrow transplantation (BMT) experiments suggest a complex pathogenetic mechanism that may well involve lytic compounds, for example, in the blood circulation and/or cytokines generated in the brain [112].

The severity of the disease correlates with the residual activity of the defective enzymes [231]. Mutations in the genes encoding the three polypeptide chains have been identified [98].

Naturally occurring animal models of GM2-gangliosidoses have been reported in dogs, cats and pig. In addition, murine models of Tay-Sachs disease, Sandhoff disease and GM2activator deficiency have been generated using gene-targeting techniques [98]. Unlike human GM2 gangliosidoses, the phenotypes of these murine models differ greatly. These differences among the models result from different ganglioside degradation pathways in mice and humans. In mice, the defective step can be bypassed by the action of a sialidase [113]. An inducible mouse model of the late-onset B-variant has been established [114]. To date, a therapy attenuating the development or reversing the clinical manifestations of the GM2 gangliosidoses is not available, but several therapeutic strategies are studied clinically and in disease models (Section 6). Treatment is restricted to supportive care and appropriate management of the intervening problems.

3.6. Fabry disease

Fabry disease is an inborn deficiency of lysosomal α galactosidase A. This homodimer of 50 kDa subunits [115] catalyses the lysosomal hydrolysis of globotriaosylceramide. Fabry disease is a panethnic, X-chromosomal-linked inherited disorder with an estimated frequency of 1:117,000 [78] to 1:40,000 birth [115]. Hemizygous males have extensive deposition of globotriaosylceramide in the lysosomes of endothelial, perithelial, and smooth-muscle cells of blood vessels. Many cell types in the heart, kidneys, eyes, cornea, and the autonomous nervous system are also affected.

The first clinical symptoms usually occur during childhood or adolescence. These include severe pain in the extremities, vascular cutaneous lesions, hypohidrosis, and corneal and lenticular opacities. The disease develops to renal, cardiac, and/ or cerebral complications, which are the most common causes of death in the 4th or 5th decade of life. A variant of the disease characterized by a milder progression and a primary impairment of the heart muscle has been attributed to enhanced residual activity of more than 5% of normal of the defective enzyme. Heterozygous females have higher residual α -galactosidase A activities, have an attenuated form of this disease, and are usually not as severely affected as hemizygous males. Diagnosis of female patients is facilitated by determination of the α galactosidase A to β -glucuronidase ratio [116].

The observed symptoms result from accumulating glycolipids in the affected tissues, the blockage of blood vessels, or both simultaneously. For example in the kidney, the lesions are due to glycosphingolipid accumulation in several cell types, but renal blood vessels are progressively and often extensively involved. On the other hand, in the nervous system vascular involvement is the predominant cause of the affection.

About 180 different mutations causing Fabry disease have been identified including partial gene rearrangements, splice-junction defects, and point mutations [115].

An animal model of this disease has been created [117]. Although it shows no clinical symptoms, it allows evaluation of therapeutic strategies, as for treatment using adeno-associated virus mediated therapy, which leads to long-term correction of storage [118]. The treatment of Fabry disease by enzyme replacement therapy using recombinant α -galactosidase A derived from human skin fibroblasts [119] or CHO-cells [120] has been established. A chemical chaperone approach with galactose was successful in a male patient of the cardiac variant of the disease [121], and extensions of this approach using inhibitors have been reported [122–124]. Deoxygalactonojir-imycin treatment of knock-in mice that express the (R301Q) variant of α -galactosidase A led to an increase of enzyme activity in the heart and reduction of globotriaosylceramide storage [125].

3.7. Gaucher disease

Gaucher disease is the most common form of the sphingolipidoses [126,127,130]. It is caused by the deficiency

of glucosylceramide- β -glucosidase [128,129] leading to accumulation of glucosylceramide.

Glucosylceramide- β -glucosidase, also called glucocerebrosidase, consists of 497 amino acids and has a molecular weight of about 65 kDa in its glycosylated form [130]. It is a lysosomal enzyme that can associate to membranes. The X-ray structure of this enzyme has been reported [131], also when it was bound to the irreversibly acting inhibitor conduritol β -epoxide [132]. Variant forms of the enzymes with 42 selected single amino acid substitutions have been generated, expressed in insect cells, purified, characterized for kinetic, stability and activator response properties, and mapped onto the crystal structure [133]. The enzyme can be allosterically activated by Sap-C [134,135] and by negatively charged phospholipids [136], of which the lysosomal bis(monoacylglycero)phosphate seems to be of physiological relevance [137].

Three different types of Gaucher disease are distinguished: The attenuated form, Gaucher disease type I, has a nonneuropathic course and is the most frequent form of this disease. It has a frequency of 1: 50000-200000 births, but which is higher amongst Ashkenazi Jewish population (1:1000). Life expectancies of these patients range between 6 and 80 years. Gaucher disease type II, the acute form, is a very rare panethnic disease characterized by the involvement of the nervous system with early onset and a life expectancy of less than two years. The subacute or juvenile form, Gaucher disease type III, is an intermediate variant of the other two types, mainly found in the Northern Swedish population. In this case, the neurological symptoms have a later onset and a slower development than in form II; the survival age of the patients is between a few years and four decades. A partial defect in glucosylceramide-Bglucosidase is not associated with visible skin phenotype in humans, but complete enzyme deficiency leads to the "collodion baby" phenotype with a severe impairment of skin function [138].

In all variants, patients may show hepatosplenomegaly, anemia, thrombocytopenia, and bone damage. The severity of these symptoms differ widely, but is inversely correlated with the residual enzyme activity determined in skin fibroblasts of Gaucher patients [139].

Even if the enzyme activity is reduced in all cell types, the phenotype of type 1 of the disease is predominantly manifested in macrophages of the reticuloendothelial system, since these cells have to degrade large amounts of glycolipids derived from the phagocytosis of erythrocytes. Due to the stored material, macrophages acquire a typical morphology, which is characterized by the enlargement of the cell and the occurrence of cytoplasmic linear inclusions. Not only the appearance of these so called "Gaucher cells" in the affected tissues, but also the inflammatory response they induce by the release of cytokines [140], might account for the hypertrophy of the affected organs, for cortical bone loss, and bone marrow disease. Types II and III of the disease that affect the CNS are characterized by a progressive loss of neuronal cells. This might also be caused by accumulation of glucosylsphingosine, which apparently produces neuronal toxicity [141,243] and might be also able to induce inflammatory responses [142].

Together with glucosylceramide accumulation, an elevation of chitotriosidase activity occurs in plasma that can be used for diagnostic purposes [143].

Approximately 200 mutations at the glucosylceramide- β -glucosidase locus have been found in patients with Gaucher disease, four of which account for about 86% of the cases in the Jewish population and for 68% in non-Jewish population. Two cases of Gaucher disease are known, where the cause is the absence of a sphingolipid activator protein, Sap-C [144,225, 226]. A certain mutation (N370S) impairs the interaction of variant glucosylceramide- β -glucosidase enzyme with Sap-C [145].

An animal model most resembling the type II form of the disease has been created by targeted disruption of the glucosylceramide- β -glucosidase gene in mice [146]. The animals store glucosylceramide in cells of the reticuloendothelial system and die within 24 h after birth. Recently, additional viable models of Gaucher disease have been developed by introduction of the point mutations N370S, V394L, D409H, or D409V into the mouse glucosylceramide- β -glucosidase locus [147]. Glucosylceramide- β -glucosidase activities were in the range of 2 to 25% of wild type; the homozygous N370S mice were not viable, and the others showed variable pathologies.

Due to the pioneering work of R. O. Brady, enzyme therapy for the attenuated form of Gaucher disease (type I) is available [148]. It consists of the use of glucosylceramide- β -glucosidase purified from placenta or recombinantly expressed, which has been modified in the carbohydrate part to contain targeting information for the mannose receptor on macrophages [149]. After treatment of the patients, a normalization of the blood parameters, as well as a reduced weight of liver and spleen can be observed. Due to CNS involvement, enzyme replacement is less promising for types 2 and 3 of the disease [150]. Also bone marrow transplantations have been accomplished, with variable results [151–153]. A serious problem is the reversal of bone involvement, which has been overcome by peripheral blood stem cell transplantation in the animal model [154].

3.8. Metachromatic leukodystrophy

Metachromatic Leukodystrophy (MLD) is caused by the inherited deficiency of arylsulfatase A (ASA) and the accumulation of sulfatide in several tissues [155]. The storage material accounts for the observed metachromatic staining [156,157]. MLD is a rare disease with an estimated frequency between 1:40 000 and 1:10 0000 in newborns. Arylsulfatase A [157] catalyses the conversion of sulfatide into galactosylceramide and sulfate. For this process, the assistance of Sap-B is required [158]. MLD can be classified into a late infantile, a juvenile, and an adult form.

In the late infantile form, symptoms develop between 6 months and 4 years of age, and death usually occurs about 5 years later. It begins with hypotonia, unsteady gait, and mental regression. Several abilities progressively deteriorate. Common symptoms are loss of speech, blindness, quadriparesis, peripheral neuropathy, and seizures. In a final stage before death, the child is bedridden, in a decerebrate state, and looses all contact with his/her surroundings.

The juvenile form of MLD is characterized by an onset ranging from 4 to 16 years and death usually before 20 years.

The adult form can begin after puberty up to the 6th decade of life and may extend for a few years or for decades. This form is less frequent than the previous two. In both cases, patients show gradual deterioration in school or job performance, with emotional and behavioral disturbances or psychiatric symptoms in the adult form. Other clinical manifestations are gait clumsiness, incontinence, and optic atrophy. During the final stages of this disease, the patient reaches a vegetative state.

The biochemical defect in all forms of MLD is a deficiency in the enzymatic hydrolysis of sulfatides. These sulfated glycolipids occur mainly in the myelin sheaths in the white matter of the brain, in the peripheral nervous system, and in the kidney tissue. The clinical and histopathologic manifestations of MLD are fundamentally caused by a demyelination process. This phenomenon appears to be secondary to sulfatide-induced changes in oligodendrocytes and Schwann cells.

Additionally, lysosulfatide, a cytotoxic sulfatide derivative that occurs in tissues of the patients, seems to play a role in the pathogenesis of this disease [244].

More than 60 different mutations in the ASA gene are associated with the MLD phenotype. Some mutations produce a complete loss of enzyme activity and patients homozygous for this type of allele develop the late infantile form of the disease. On the other hand, low but definite amounts of ASA activity result in milder forms of the disease [159,160,231].

Also the inherited deficiency of Sap-B, the cofactor required for sulfatide cleavage by ASA *in vivo*, leads to a clinical picture similar to MLD caused by ASA deficiency. In this case, the activity of ASA toward soluble, synthetic substrates is normal [161].

A mouse model of MLD has been created [162]. Although it develops some neurologic symptoms, most likely due to sulfatide storage, the mice show no demyelination, which is a hallmark of the human disease. Although it shows only a low extent of neurological and neuropathological changes, this model was of value for characterization of defects in acoustic perception. To date there is no causal therapy for this lethal disease, but enzyme replacement therapy has been successfully evaluated in the animal model: In ASA knockout mice, intravenous ASA injection restored sulfatide metabolism in peripheral tissues and the central nervous system [163]. Also bone marrow transplantation has been applied to patients of the juvenile form [164]. Transplantation of genetically modified stem cells gave promising results in the nervous system of the animal model [165].

In a related disease, multiple sulfatase deficiency known as mucosulfatidosis or Austin disease, the activities of all known sulfatases are strongly reduced [166]. This disease results from a defective posttranslational modification, which is necessary to enable sulfate ester hydrolysis by sulfatases. Cells from these patients show a deficient transformation of a cysteine residue into a formylglycine residue in the active site of different sulfatases [167]. The phenotype of this disease can be described as a combination of symptoms of metachromatic leukodystrophy and a mucopolysaccharidosis. Nine mutations in the sulfatase-modifying factor-I gene (SUMFI) of seven patients have been identified that lead to deficiency of the C α -formylglycine generating enzyme (FGE) [168].

3.9. Krabbe disease

Krabbe disease or globoid cell leukodystrophy [169,170] is caused by an inherited deficiency of galactosylceramide- β galactosidase. This membrane-associated enzyme with a molecular weight of about 50 kDa hydrolyzes galactosylceramide to ceramide and galactose [170]. Sap-A and Sap-C are able to stimulate this degradation step *in vivo*. Although there is some storage especially in globoid cells, the enzyme deficiency does not lead to substantial substrate accumulation, probably because of the rapid loss of galactosylceramide synthesizing and accumulating cells. Krabbe disease and MLD are classical myelin diseases.

Clinically, Krabbe disease has two variants: an infantile and a late onset form.

Symptoms of the infantile form usually start between 3 and 6 months of life, and may include irritability or hypersensitivity to external stimuli. Within a short time, severe mental and motor deteriorations occur. Commonly, patients become blind, deaf, flaccid, and hypotonic. The survival of the patients is less than two years.

In the late onset form of globoid cell leukodystrophy, the symptoms can appear at any time after the patients are able to walk; the onset may vary from a few years up to 73 years of age. Common clinical manifestations are psychomotor retardation, blindness, spastic paraparesis, and dementia.

The most characteristic histopathological changes are extensive demyelination, loss of oligodendroglia, astrogliosis, and presence of numerous multinucleated globoid cells. These cells are hematogenous macrophages containing undigested galactosylceramide.

The pathogenesis of this disease can be attributed to a combination of two phenomena: the impaired degradation of galactosylceramide, which leads to globoid cell infiltration, and the accumulation of the cytotoxic derivative galactosylsphingosine (lysogalactosylceramide=psychosine), which causes oligodendroglial cell destruction. Psychosine is another substrate of the deficient enzyme; it accumulates up to toxic, cell-destructive levels. Several mutations in the galactosylceramide- β -galactosidase gene have been identified. A deletion of exons 11–17 is a very frequent mutation and is associated with the infantile form of the disease [171,172].

An authentic mouse model for Krabbe disease is the twitcher mouse with a premature stop codon within the coding sequence of the gene [173]. Another animal model carries a mutation on the galactosylceramide- β -galactosidase gene leading to low enzyme activity [174]. Investigations of the twitcher mouse point to a neuroinflammatory response that might additionally contribute to pathogenesis [175,176]. A double knockout mouse deficient in galactosylceramide- β -galactosidase and the biosynthetic enzyme ceramide galactosyltransferase (cgt) shows shorter lifespan than the (cgt –/–)mice themselves [177]. A mutation within the Sap-A domain of the human [215] and murine [214] Sap-precursor protein causes a deficiency of the mature activator and a phenotype similar to Krabbe disease.

To date, treatment of Krabbe disease is limited to bone marrow transplantation in patients with only minimal neurologic involvement [267,268]. In infantile patients, transplantation of umbilical-cord blood gave promising results, but only when the treatment was started before the onset of symptoms [178]. Recently, peripheral enzyme replacement has been applied to Twitcher mice, which resulted in attenuation of early symptoms and an increase of life span [179].

3.10. Niemann-Pick disease, type A and B

Niemann–Pick disease (NPD), type A and B, is caused by the inherited deficiency of acid sphingomyelinase (ASM) and accumulation of sphingomyelin [184]. Secondarily, sphingomyelin also accumulates in Niemann–Pick disease, type C, in which the products of the NPC-1 or NPC2 genes are deficient [180,181]. In both cases, trafficking of endocytosed cholesterol is altered. Also drug-induced lysosomal storage of sphingomyelin occurs in response to treatment of human patients with tricyclic antidepressants over long time periods. In this case. sphingomyelin accumulates due to the drug-induced degradation of acid-sphingomyelinase [182,183].

Acid sphingomyelinase [184,185] is a glycoprotein with a molecular weight of 70 kDa. Within the lysosomes, it catalyses the degradation of sphingomyelin to ceramide and phosphorylcholine. Its modular structure includes a Sap-like domain and a catalytic domain. Acid sphingomyelinase can be stimulated by lysosomal lipids and sphingolipid activator proteins [186], but this appears not to be necessary *in vivo*.

NPD, type A and B, is a panethnic disease with a higher frequency among Ashkenazi Jews (1:80 for heterozygotes). Type A NPD is a fatal disorder of infancy with a life expectancy of the patients of 2 to 3 years. Affected newborns appear to be normal at birth, but in the first few months of life, symptoms such as hepatosplenomegaly, moderate lymphadenopathy, hypotonia, and muscular weakness appear. Feeding difficulties and splenomegaly lead to a decrease in linear growth and body weight. In later stages of the disease, common manifestations are microcytic anemia, decreased platelet count, osteoporosis, brownish-yellow color of the skin, and cherry-red maculae. Psychomotor retardation becomes evident by 6 months of age and gradually increases over the years. In an advanced state, the patient looses contact with the environment.

Type B NPD is a phenotypically variable disorder with little or no involvement of the nervous system. It is usually diagnosed in childhood, but patients can reach adulthood. Commonly, liver and/or spleen are enlarged and progressive pulmonary infiltration causes the major disease complications in more severely affected patients.

Patients with type B show a higher residual enzyme activity than those with type A [187].

NPD is characterized by the presence of "foam cells" or "Niemann–Pick cells", although patients with other pathologies may have histologically similar cells. The formation of these histiocytic cells is caused by storage of sphingomyelin and/or other lipids in the monocyte-macrophage system. Storage occurs in spleen and lymph nodes, but also in liver, brain, kidney, and lungs. There is little or no lipid storage in the central nervous system of type B NPD patients.

Sphingolipid-induced alterations in signal transduction [188] might also contribute to NPD pathogenesis. In response to extracellular stimuli, ceramide can be generated by hydrolysis of sphingomyelin, catalyzed by different sphingomyelinases with different topologies. Since in addition to neutral sphingomyelinases, ASM also might play a role in the activation of the so-called "sphingomyelin pathway", NPD patients may have subtle abnormalities in various signaling pathways and these abnormalities could be exacerbated by stress. There is currently little clinical evidence in support of this hypothesis, however, mice deficient in ASM show a severe impairment in early host defense against *Listeria monocytogenes* [189] and other signalling abnormalities.

Another factor that may contribute to the pathogenesis of the disease is the formation of sphingosylphosphocholine (SPC), a potent mitogen which can induce neurite outgrowth, and which has been shown to accumulate in type A NPD [190].

Different mutations in the ASM gene that cause types A and B NPD have been described. Three mutations, R496L, L302P, and fsP330, account for about 92% of the mutant alleles in Ashkenazi Jewish type A NPD patients. A common mutation in type B patients is the single lesion Δ R608 [184].

Mouse models of NPD have been constructed by using genetargeting strategies [191,192]. Even if the precise targeting events differed in the two animal strains, they show essentially identical phenotypes. The NPD "knock-out" mice develop features of both types A and B NPD, and are used for evaluation of various therapeutic strategies. To date, there is no specific treatment available for NPD. If performed early in life, BMT has a positive effect on the clinical course of severely affected type B NPD patients [193], but graft versus host disease and other transplant-related complications are common and preclude its use as a routine therapy. The outcome of BMT for the treatment of type A patients is uncertain [194].

3.11. Farber disease

Farber-disease [195] is a rare disease due to the inherited deficiency of lysosomal acid ceramidase and storage of ceramide in the lysosomes. Acid ceramidase [195] is a heterodimeric enzyme composed of an α -subunit of 13 kDa and a β -subunit of 40 kDa [196]. Both subunits are derived from a common 55 kDa precursor that is processed within late endosomes and lysosomes [197]. Acid ceramidase catalyses the degradation of ceramide to sphingosine and a fatty acid in the lysosomes, and requires the presence of Sap-C [198] or Sap-D [199]. It is also able to catalyze the reverse reaction [200]. Point mutations on the acid ceramidase gene in patients of Farber disease have been identified [197,201]; deletion of the gene leads to embryonic lethality at day 8.5 in mice [202].

Usually, the symptoms of Farber disease appear several months after birth, and death occurs within the first years of life.

Patients with milder forms of the disease can reach adulthood. The most characteristic clinical manifestation is the development of painful and progressive joint deformations, subcutaneous nodules (lipogranulomas), and progressive hoarseness. In the granulomas, but also in some organs and tissues, lipid-loaden macrophages are frequent. Apart of skin and joints, liver, spleen, lung, and heart are frequently affected organs. Neuronal accumulation of ceramide and gangliosides has also been reported. A variant form of the disease is present in prosaposin (=Sap-precursor) deficiency [79], where the resulting deficiency also of Sap-D prevents ceramide degradation [199]. The biochemical findings show combined characteristics of Farber disease, and at least four other sphingolipidoses (see Section 3.12.1.).

The important role of ceramide in skin function accounts for the involvement of subcutaneous tissues in Farber disease. The accumulated lysosomal ceramide in Farber disease does apparently not cause apoptosis or another response expected for this signaling substance [203]. The clinical course of this disease correlates with the residual acid ceramidase activity [204]. Therapy of infantile ceramidase deficiency has been attempted with bone marrow transplantation, which improves the peripheral, but not the neurological manifestations [205].

3.12. Deficiency of Saposins (Saps)

The sphingolipid activator proteins Sap-A, -B, -C, and -D are different from the GM2-activator protein. However, the deficiency of the latter protein was the first disease that was attributed to the loss of a sphingolipid activator protein. See the section on the AB-variant of the GM2-gangliosidoses.

3.12.1. Prosaposin

All four saposins are derived from a single protein, the Sapprecursor, or prosaposin, a 70 kDa glycoprotein, which is proteolytically processed to the mature activator proteins (Saps) in the late endosomes and lysosomes [206–208]. Prosaposin is detected mainly in brain, heart, muscle and body fluids, whereas mature Saps are mainly found in liver, lung, kidney and spleen. Until now, two different mutations in few human patients have been reported, a homoallelic mutation of the start codon [209–211] and a homoallelic deletion within the Sap-B domain, which leads to a frame-shift and a premature stop codon [212].

The Sap-precursor deficiency is a fatal infantile storage disorder, characterized by hepatosplenomegaly and severe neurological symptoms. In all human patients, but also in the Sap-precursor knockout mouse [213], there is simultaneous storage of many sphingolipids, including ceramide, glucosylceramide, lactosylceramide, ganglioside GM3, galactosylceramide, sulfatides, digalactosylceramide, and globotriaosylceramide, accompanied by an accumulation of intralysosomal membranes. Prosaposin deficiency can be diagnosed by immunochemical methods, by demonstration of a metabolic defect, or with antisera against more than one Sap protein [238].

3.12.2. Sap-A

Sap-A is required for the degradation of galactosylceramide by galactosylceramide- β -galactosidase in vivo. Mice carrying a

mutation in the Sap-A domain of the Sap-precursor protein show accumulation of galactosylceramide and the late-onset form of Krabbe disease [214]. Recently, a human disease has been described that resembles Krabbe disease, but is caused by a singular defect of Sap-A [215].

3.12.3. Sap-B deficiency

Sap-B is the first sphingolipid activator protein that was identified [160]. It is a lipid-transport protein [216] which shows a broader specificity than the GM2-activator. It is able to stimulate the degradation of 20 glycolipids in the presence of human, plant, and bacterial enzymes [217]. In vivo, it mediates the degradation of sulfatide by arylsulfatase A, of globotriaosylceramide and digalactosylceramide as demonstrated in patients with Sap-B deficiency, where these substrates accumulate in the urine [218]. It is also required for the degradation of ganglioside GM3 and lactosylceramide, as reported by studies in cultured human skin fibroblast of Sap-B deficient patients [219]. The crystal structure of unglycosylated human recombinant Sap-B has been solved [220].

The inherited defect of Sap-B leads to an atypical form of metachromatic leukodystrophy, with late infantile or juvenile onset [221]. The disease is characterized by accumulation of sulfatides, digalactosylceramide, and globotriaosylceramide [79]. The clinical findings in Sap-B deficiency are similar to those in metachromatic leukodystrophy. Nine cases with early juvenile and juvenile onset have been reported [79].

3.12.4. Sap-C deficiency

Sap-C was first isolated from spleens of patients of Gaucher disease [222]. It is required for the lysosomal degradation of glucosylceramide by glucosylceramide- β -glucosidase [222] and lends protease-resistance to the enzyme inside the cell [223]. Recently, the solution structure of Sap-C has been solved [224]. In contrast to the mode of action of the GM2-activator and of Sap-B, Sap-C can activate glucosylceramide- β -glucosidase directly [134,135,222]. Sap-C deficiency leads to an unusual juvenile form of Gaucher disease and an accumulation of glucosylceramide mainly in brain, liver and spleen [225,226]. Until now, only two human patients with point mutations in one allele of the Sap-C domain of prosaposin have been diagnosed. The mutations led to the substitution of the same cysteine residue and the subsequent loss of a disulfide bridge in the variant proteins. The clinical findings are similar to those in Gaucher disease, type 3. Until recently, the other allele remained unidentified in the two patients. A recent work [227] demonstrated a Q430X mutation in the Sap-D-domain on the other allele, so that at least one of the patients is compound heterozygote for Sap-C- and prosaposin deficiency.

3.12.5. Sap-D

Sap-D stimulates lysosomal ceramide degradation by acid ceramidase in *in-vitro* [198] and in cultured cells [199]. In Sap-D deficient mice, ceramides, particularly those containing hydroxy fatty acids, accumulate in the kidney and the brain of the animals [228], which, however, suffer also from severe

urinary system defects. Human diseases based on the isolated defect of this cofactor are unknown to date.

4. Pathogenesis of spingolipidoses

Sphingolipidoses display a high degree of phenotypic variability [229]. Onset, development, and symptoms vary widely between different sphingolipidosis, but can also differ drastically within one and the same disease. One primary factor that determines the pathogenesis of the diseases is the cell-type specific pattern of glycosphingolipid expression. Lipid storage in lipidosis patients occurs especially in those cells and organs in which the lipid substrates of the corresponding deficient degrading system are prevalently synthesized or taken up by phagocytosis. Thus, complex gangliosides are predominantly formed in neuronal cells, so that altered catabolism of these glycolipids leads initially to damage of the central nervous system. Ceramide is essential for skin function and contributes to the formation of water permeability barrier. This explains the severe skin-phenotype of patients with a complete loss of glucosylceramide-B-glucosidase activity, which liberates extracellular ceramide from a more water-soluble precursor [138]. Galactosylceramide and sulfatide are characteristic lipids of myelin, so that in both, Krabbe's disease and metachromatic leukodystrophy, the myelin-forming cells are primarily affected. Alternatively, the lipid load of a cell may not be primarily determined by endogenous synthesis of the respective lipid, rather than by uptake. Thus, in Gaucher disease, storage is especially manifest in macrophages, which have large amounts of sphingolipids to degrade after phagocytosis of cells.

Besides the cell type-specific expression of sphingolipids, the second important factor is the residual activity of the defective enzyme in many, although not all LSDs. Onset and severity of the storage disease is partly determined by the residual activity of the gene product in the lysosomes [230,231]. A complete deficiency of a lysosomal enzyme leads to an early onset and a severe course of the disease, whereas only a few percent of residual activity can be sufficient to delay the onset of the disease, cause an attenuated course, and lead to the often misdiagnosed adult forms of the diseases [232]. Although this is valid for most of the LSDs, patients with identical genotype and, accordingly, formal similar residual activity, can undergo different courses of a disease. Apparently, other genetic and epigenetic factors contribute to the expression of a disease in an individual patient.

For some LSDs, so-called enzyme *pseudodeficiencies* have been described. This term refers to individuals who have a substantial reduction of enzyme activity, but do not develop any lysosomal accumulation. Pseudodeficiencies are due to polymorphisms in the genes of the respective enzymes that cause the reduction of enzyme activity. They support the threshold theory [230], according to which only the decrease of the variant enzyme activity below a critical threshold leads to a reduced turnover rate and subsequent accumulation of the substrate. The theory is valid for most sphingolipidoses [81]. It is also the basis for the current therapeutic approaches, since it predicts that slight elevations of enzyme activity can drastically improve the conditions of the patients (see Section 6).

A direct consequence of the metabolic blockage is the accumulation of the corresponding enzyme substrates. The majority of the amphiphilic storage compounds is not excreted by the affected cells, although it is known that lysosomes of some cell types can secrete their contents after fusion with the plasma membrane [233], or undergo calcium ion-regulated exocytosis for plasma membrane repair [234]. Extracellular occurrence of storage material, as that of sulfatide in urine and cerebrospinal fluid in metachromatic leukodystrophy, has been attributed to lysosomal exocytosis [235]. The growing amount of accumulating material might initially lead to a mechanical damage of the cell, and subsequently to apoptosis (e.g. [236,237]). Hypertrophy of affected organs is frequently observed, although the storage material itself contributes only to a small extent to mass increase. For example, an increase in heart weight by 1000 g cannot be explained by the accumulation of an amount of 3.5 g globotriaosylceramide as the storage substance [238]. Therefore, hypertrophy secondary to lysosomal storage is an important factor in pathogenesis.

In addition, the pathogenesis can be influenced by the nature of the storage material. The degradation disorder can be accompanied by formation of bioactive substances. A highly cytotoxic substance, galactosylsphingosine (psychosine) is not sufficiently degraded in cells of patients suffering from Krabbe disease. It leads to the destruction of affected cells, before a significant accumulation can occur [239]. Galactosylsphingosine has been recognized as a ligand of the TDAG8-receptor [240]. Subsequent inhibition of cytokinesis explains the formation of multinuclear globoid cells in the brain of patients of Krabbe disease [241]. In addition, psychosine might also act by uncoupling mitochondrial respiratory chain [242]. Other examples for the formation of toxic substances are glucosylsphingosine in Gaucher disease [243], lysosulfatide in metachromatic leukodystrophy [244], sphingosylphosphorylcholine in Niemann-Pick-disease, type A [245], and lysoglycosphingolipids in the other disorders. Neuronal dysfunction might also develop in response to morphologically active substances [246,247] like ganglioside GM2, which is normally expressed on neurons during neuritogenesis, with subsequent formation of meganeurites and axonal spheroides [73].

Secondary to lipid and glycolipid storage, downstream effects of lysosomal storage contribute to the pathogenesis of these diseases. For example, in patients of Gaucher disease [141], in the mouse model of Sandhoff disease [248], in animal models of other gangliosidoses [249] and in other LSDs [73], inflammatory responses like macrophage activation or cytokine release have been reported. As demonstrated by deletion of the macrophage-inflammatory protein 1 α gene in the Sandhoff disease mouse [250], inflammation is an important factor for neuronal death, eventually also via disruption of the blood brain barrier [73]. In addition to macrophage-inflammatory protein 1 α , also rab-activation by cholesterol, which secondarily accumulates in most sphingolipid storage diseases, might account for this effect [251]. Other secondary effects, as on lipid trafficking [252], phospholipid metabolism, calcium ion

homeostasis [253,254,258], and mitochondrial function [255] have been observed.

5. Diagnosis

The diagnosis of sphingolipidoses [256] is based on the evaluation of clinical symptoms and characteristic pathological manifestations, analysis of storage compounds, and especially the measurement of enzyme activities of the individual hydrolases. Enzyme sources are serum, leukocytes, cultured skin fibroblasts, amnion cells, chorion villi, or biopsy material. If enzyme activity or stability in serum are low, activity might be determined in lymphocytes or cultured skin fibroblasts. Disease markers like plasma chitotriosidase in Gaucher disease [144] are valuable means for diagnosis and following therapeutic success.

Natural or synthetic substrates with fluorogenic or chromogenic properties are frequently employed [256]. The analysis of substrate accumulation can be demonstrated in cultured cells, degradation capacity can be determined by radiolabelled substrates or catabolic substrate precursors. For example, for Farber disease, radiolabelled ceramide, sulfatide, or sphingomyelin can be used. Also altered pattern of sphingolipid trafficking might be used for diagnostic purposes [252]. The diagnosis of a sphingolipidoses can also be achieved by biosynthetic labelling of the sphingolipids in cells derived from patients and in normal cells. After a long chase period, the substrate whose degradation is impaired will be labelled to a greater extent than in control cells. The advantage of this method is that proteins and lipids are tested in their natural and topological correct environment. Furthermore, the amount of the radioactivity incorporated into the substrate correlates directly with the extent of the enzyme defect. In addition, this method also allows the identification of sphingolipidoses caused by the absence of activator proteins [199].

6. Therapeutic approaches

Many of the discussed disorders remain untreatable and represent a high burden on the patients and their families. The theoretical basis for the therapeutic approaches toward sphingolipidoses is the "threshold theory" [230]. According to this theory, the ratio of substrate influx into the lysosomes and the degradation capacity determines the onset and severity of the diseases. Both parameters can be addressed by therapeutic approaches, especially since the theory predicts that already slight changes in this ratio can improve the condition of the patients.

The objective of most of the causal therapies of sphingolipidoses is the restoration of the defective degradation capacity within the lysosome. The current strategies for causal treatment that are in use or under evaluation [257,258] are enzyme replacement therapy (ERT), cell-mediated therapy (CMT) including heterologous bone marrow transplantation (BMT) and cell-mediated "cross correction", gene therapy, and enzyme-enhancement therapy with chemical chaperones [122,257,259,260]. An additional strategy for the treatment of sphingolipidoses consists in the reduction of substrate influx into the lysosomes. This can be achieved by substrate reduction (substrate deprivation) therapy [261].

6.1. Enzyme replacement therapy (ERT)

The aim of ERT [262,263] is to diminish substrate storage by the exogenous supply of the defective lysosomal enzyme. This was demonstrated for many LSDs in cultured cells, and in part also in animal models, where the proteins are taken up by cells by receptor-mediated endocytosis. The enzymes are generally targeted for uptake by the manose-6-phosphate receptor system, present in nearly all cells, or the mannose receptor, present in cells of the macrophage lineage. To date, ERT of sphingolipidoses is successfully applied to patients suffering from type I of Gaucher disease and Fabry disease [257]. The blood–brain barrier prevents therapeutic enzymes from reaching neural cells and thus limits the applicability of this therapeutic method for treatment of central nervous system diseases.

6.2. Cell-mediated therapy (CMT)

In this case, cells are used as therapeutic agent [264] to replace or compensate the defective cell population with normal equivalents, so that tissue or organ function might be restored, or to release enzymes for uptake by deficient cells ("cross correction"). This can be achieved by bone marrow transplantation (BMT), or by the use of neural progenitor cells as examples of this method. For example, intracerebral transplantation of transduced neural progenitor cells into the brain of the mouse model of Niemann–Pick disease, type A, led to a reversal of storage [265]. Also delivery of functional proteins by axonal transport might be further explored in the future [266].

There is currently evidence that CMT significantly alleviates pathologic manifestations of the CNS in LSDs. There are numerous examples for bone marrow transplantations that led to improvement of therapeutic parameters. This is not necessarily due to cross correction, which has been demonstrated only in few cases, but can also be achieved by immunosuppressive effects. BMT has been applied to human patients, e.g., of Krabbe disease and MLD [267,268]. In animal models of LSDs [269,270], this has led to an improvement of the neurological symptoms and the regression of neuronal injury. More than 500 patients of lysosomal storage disorders have been treated with allogeneic stem cell transplantation with variable success [271]. In animal models, direct implantation of cells and the use of BMT to deliver microglial/brain macrophage precursors have both positive effects.

6.3. Gene therapy

This approach [272] is based on the insertion of a functional copy of the mutated gene into cells, which in turn produce the deficient protein. The gene therapy approach takes advantage of the process of cross correction. The deficient enzyme should be stably over-expressed by a few cells, secreted in high levels, and thus correct the phenotype of adjacent cells. Retro- and lentiviral vectors are currently evaluated [273]. Especially

animal models turned out to be valuable for the evaluation of this concept [274].

At the cell culture level, transduction experiments have been carried out for example with retrovirally-mediated galactosylceramide- β -galactosidase cDNA [275]. A lentiviral vector also corrected β -hexosaminidase deficiency in human Sandhoff fibroblasts [276]. In the mouse model of another LSD, Sly syndrome (mucopolysaccharidosis VII), the visceral pathology was corrected by adenovirus-mediated gene transfer [277,278]. Recent developments include the reversal of storage in the animal model of Tay–Sachs disease by injection of a Herpes simplex vector encoding for the β -hexosaminidase α -subunit into the brain of the animals [279].

Gene therapy is expected to be an effective concept for the treatment of LSDs with CNS involvement. Several approaches have been successfully carried out in the animal model of Tay–Sachs and Sandhoff disease. In the murine model of Sandhoff disease, the intracerebral injection of a recombinant adenoviral vector encoding the β -subunit of β -hexosaminidase A resulted in nearly normal levels of enzymatic activity in the entire brain. The addition of hyperosmotic concentrations of mannitol allowed an enhancement of vector diffusion [280].

In humans, the major difficulty in the employment of this gene therapy approach for treatment of CNS diseases is to efficiently deliver a gene therapy vector to the brain through a systemic route. This, the limited duration of gene expression, and other obstacles remain to be overcome before this treatment can be successfully applied to affected humans. Another technical problem relates to immune response in null patients leading to only transient benefit in experimental models using some vectors.

6.4. Enzyme-enhancement therapy

This recently developed method relies on the use of chemical chaperones [260,263]. These substances can bind to enzymes, which are variant, but not completely defective by certain mutations and have an intact catalytic center. Chemical chaperones stabilize the residual functional conformation, and prevent the premature degradation of such enzymes by the quality control system in the ER [281]. Thereby, they enhance the fraction of the functional variant protein and the degradation capacity in the lysosomes. Substrate analogs and enzyme inhibitors have been used to stabilize the variant proteins defective for example in Fabry disease [122], Gaucher disease [282], GM1 gangliosidosis [95], and GM2 gangliosidosis [283]. Of considerable value for this and the substrate reduction approach are iminosugars of the nojirimycin type (Fig. 5) [284]. Members of this substance class are in clinical use as inhibitors



Fig. 5. Structures of *N*-butyldeoxynojirimycin, *N*-butyldeoxygalactonojirimycin, and L-cycloserine.

of glycosphingolipid biosynthesis, but have also been investigated as chemical chaperones of various lysosomal glycoside hydrolases.

6.5. Substrate reduction therapy (SRT)

The pathological accumulation of a substance in the lysosome occurs as long as biosynthesis continues. Using inhibitors of sphingolipid biosynthesis, the influx of substrate into the lysosomes may be reduced. The proof of principle of the substrate reduction approach [261,285] has been demonstrated in a genetic model: Sandhoff disease mice were crossbred with mice defective in the biosynthetic enzyme GM2/GD2-synthase [286]. The life span of these animals was much longer, however, they developed a late-onset neurological disease due to the accumulation of oligosaccharides.

Inhibitors of glycosphingolipid biosynthesis [1] are suitable to reduce substrate influx into the lysosomes. For example, the ceramide glucosyltransferase inhibitor N-butyldeoxynojirimycin (miglustat, Zavesca[®]), has been initially investigated in the animal model of Tay-Sachs disease [261]. Its efficacy could be demonstrated in ongoing clinical trials for the treatment of human patients of Gaucher disease, type I [287,288]. Substrate reduction with N-butyldeoxynojirimycin and bone marrow transplantation, led to an increased survival of the mouse model of Sandhoff disease, and also treatment with Nbutyldeoxygalactonojirimycin [289] showed promising results. Addressing the neuroinflammatory response in Sandhoff mice with non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs further increased lifetime of the *N*-butyldeoxynojirimycin-treated animals [290]. Inhibition of ceramide glucosyltransferase with N-butylnojirimycins is suitable for substrate reduction therapy of diseases that are caused by accumulation of substances derived from glucosylceramide, but not for Niemann-Pick-disease A,B, Krabbe disease, or MLD. In twitcher mice, the model for Krabbe disease, substrate reduction with L-cycloserine (Fig. 5) led to improved conditions and prolonged lifespan [291].

Substrate reduction therapy applied to patients with some residual enzymatic activity or combined with methods, which restore this activity, is expected to be helpful in the treatment of sphingolipidoses.

Acknowledgements

We wish to thank Dr. Volkmar Gieselmann, Bonn, Dr. Klaus Harzer, Tübingen, and Dr. Ed Schuchman, New York, for valuable discussions. Work of the authors was supported by the DFG.

References

- T. Kolter, K. Sandhoff, Sphingolipids—Their metabolic pathways the pathobiochemistry of neurodegenerative diseases, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 38 (1999) 1532–1568.
- [2] S. Hakomori, Glycosphingolipids in cellular interaction, differentiation, oncogenesis, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 50 (1981) 733–764.
- [3] S. Munro, Lipid rafts: elusive or illusive? Cell 115 (2003) 377-388.

- [4] D. Lichtenberg, F.M. Goni, H. Heerklotz, Detergent-resistant membranes should not be identified with membrane rafts, Trends Biochem. Sci. 30 (2005) 430–436.
- [5] D.A. Brown, E. London, Structure function of sphingolipid-cholesterolrich membrane rafts, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 17221–17224.
- [6] G. van Meer, Q. Lisman, Sphingolipid transport: rafts translocators, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 25855–25858.
- [7] T. Kolter, T.M. Magin, K. Sandhoff, Biomolecule function: no reliable prediction from cell culture, Traffic 1 (2000) 803–804.
- [8] L.J. Yang, C.B. Zeller, N.L. Shaper, M. Kiso, A. Hasegawa, R.E. Shapiro, R.L. Schnaar, Gangliosides are neuronal ligands for myelin-associated glycoprotein, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 93 (1996) 814–818.
- [9] A. Varki, Biological roles of oligosaccharides: all of the theories are correct, Glycobiology 3 (1993) 97–130.
- [10] T. Yamashita, A. Hashiramoto, M. Haluzik, H. Mizukami, S. Beck, A. Norton, M. Kono, S. Tsuji, J.L. Daniotti, N. Werth, R. Sandhoff, K. Sandhoff, R.L. Proia, Enhanced insulin sensitivity in mice lacking ganglioside GM3, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100 (2003) 3445–3449.
- [11] P.W. Wertz, B. van den Bergh, The physical, chemical functional properties of lipids in the skin other biological barriers, Chem. Phys. Lipids 91 (1998) 85–96.
- [12] K.J. Robson, M.E. Stewart, S. Michelsen, N.D. Lazo, D.T. Downing, 6-Hydroxy-4-sphingenine in human epidermal ceramides, J. Lipid Res. 35 (1994) 2060–2068.
- [13] L.N. Marekov, P.M. Steinert, Ceramides are bound to structural proteins of the human foreskin epidermal cornified cell envelope, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 17763–17770.
- [14] M. Wendeler, J. Wirtz, T. Kolter, Sphingolipids as emerging drug targets, Drug Des. Rev. -Online 2 (2005) 53–65.
- [15] M.A. Markwell, L. Svennerholm, J.C. Paulson, Specific gangliosides function as host cell receptors for Sendai virus, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 78 (1981) 5406–5410.
- [16] K.A. Karlsson, Animal glycosphingolipids as membrane attachment sites for bacteria, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 5 (1989) 309–350.
- [17] K. Sandvig, B. van Deurs, Transport of protein toxins into cells: pathways used by ricin, cholera toxin Shiga toxin, FEBS Lett. 529 (2002) 49–53.
- [18] K. Hanada, Sphingolipids in infectious diseases, Jpn. J. Infect. Dis. 58 (2005) 131–148.
- [19] B. Schwerer, Antibodies against gangliosides: a link between preceding infection and immunopathogenesis of Guillain–Barré syndrome, Microbes Infect. 4 (2002) 373–384.
- [20] N. Yuki, Infectious origins of, and molecular mimicry in, Guillain–Barré and Fisher-syndromes, Lancet Infect. Dis. 1 (2001) 29–37.
- [21] T. Natori, Y. Koezuka, T. Higa, Agelasphins, novel α-galactosylceramides from the marine sponge Agelas mauritianus, Tetrahedron Lett. 34 (1993) 5591–5592.
- [22] L. van Kaer, α-galactosylceramide therapy for autoimmune diseases: prospects and obstacles, Nat. Rev. 5 (2005) 31–42.
- [23] C.R. Berkers, H. Ovaa, Immunotherapeutic potential for ceramide-based activators of iNKT cells, Trends Pharm. Sci. 26 (2005) 252–257.
- [24] D. Zhou, J. Mattner, J. Cantu III, N. Schrantz, N. Yin, Y. Gao, Y. Sagiv, K. Hudspeth, Y.P. Wu, T. Yamashita, S. Teneberg, D. Wang, R.L. Proia, S.B. Levery, P.B. Savage, L. Teyton, A. Bendelac, Lysosomal glycosphingolipid recognition by NKT cells, Science 306 (2004) 1786–1789.
- [25] U.H. Beier, T. Görögh, Implications of galactocerebrosidase and galactosylcerebroside metabolism in cancer cells, Int. J. Cancer 115 (2005) 6–10.
- [26] P.P. Ruvolo, Intracellular signal transduction pathways activated by ceramide its metabolites, Pharmacol. Res. 47 (2003) 383–392.
- [27] D. Meyer zu Heringdorf, H.M. Himmel, K.H. Jakobs, Sphingosylphosphorylcholine-biological functions and mechanisms of action, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1582 (2002) 178–189.
- [28] H. Rosen, E.J. Goetzl, Sphingosine-1-phosphate and its receptors: an autocrine and paracrine network, Nat. Rev., Immunol. 5 (2005) 560–570.
- [29] C.E. Chalfant, S. Spiegel, Sphingosine 1-phosphate and ceramide 1-phosphate: expanding roles in cell signaling, J. Cell Sci. 118 (2005) 4605–4612.
- [30] S. Mandala, R. Hajdu, J. Bergstrom, E. Quackenbush, J. Xie, J. Milligan,

R. Thornton, G.-J. Shei, D. Card, C. Keohane, M. Rosenbach, J. Hale, C.L. Lynch, K. Rupprecht, W. Parsons, H. Rosen, Alteration of lymphocyte trafficking by sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor agonists, Science 296 (2002) 346–349.

- [31] S. Brodesser, P. Sawatzki, T. Kolter, Bioorganic chemistry of ceramide, Eur. J. Org. Chem. (2003) 2021–2034.
- [32] T. Kolter, F. Winau, U.E. Schaible, M. Leippe, K. Sandhoff, Lipid binding proteins in membrane digestion, antigen presentation and antimicrobial defense, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 41125–41128.
- [33] A.H. Merrill Jr., De novo sphingolipid biosynthesis: a necessary, but dangerous pathway, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 25843–25846.
- [34] K. Hanada, K. Kumagai, S. Yasuda, Y. Miura, M. Kawano, M. Fukasawa, M. Nishijima, Molecular machinery for non-vesicular trafficking of ceramide, Nature 426 (2003) 803–809.
- [35] M.F. De Rosa, D. Sillence, C. Ackerley, C. Lingwood, Role of multiple drug resistance protein 1 in neutral but not acidic glycosphingolipid biosynthesis, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 7867–7876.
- [36] P.D.W. Eckford, F.J. Sharom, The reconstituted P-glycoprotein multidrug transporter is a flippase for glucosylceramide and other simple glycosphingolipids, Biochem. J. 389 (2005) 517–526.
- [37] H.J. Maccioni, C.G. Giraudo, J.L. Daniotti, Understanding the stepwise synthesis of glycolipids, Neurochem. Res. 27 (2002) 629–636.
- [38] C.G. Giraudo, H.J. Maccioni, Ganglioside glycosyltransferases organize in distinct multienzyme complexes in CHO-K1 cells, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 40262–40271.
- [39] G. Pohlentz, D. Klein, G. Schwarzmann, D. Schmitz, K. Sandhoff, Both GA2-, GM2- and GD2 synthases and GM1b-, GD1a- and GT1b synthases are single enzymes in Golgi vesicles from rat liver, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 85 (1988) 7044–7048.
- [40] T. Kolter, R.L. Proia, K. Sandhoff, Combinatorial ganglioside biosynthesis, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 25859–25862.
- [41] T. Yamashita, R. Wada, T. Sasaki, C. Deng, U. Bierfreund, K. Sandhoff, R.L. Proia, A vital role for glycosphingolipid synthesis during development differentiation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96 (1999) 9142–9147.
- [42] G. Tettamanti, Ganglioside/glycosphingolipid turnover: new concepts, Glycoconj. J. 20 (2004) 301–317.
- [43] J.L. Dawkins, D.J. Hulme, S.B. Brahmbhatt, M. Auer-Grumbach, G.A. Nicholson, Mutations in SPTLC1, encoding serine palmitoyltransferase, long chain base subunit-1, cause hereditary sensory neuropathy type I, Nat. Genet. 27 (2001) 309–312.
- [44] K. Bejaoui, Y. Uchida, S. Yasuda, M. Ho, M. Nishijima, R.H. Brown Jr., W.M. Holleran, K. Hanada, Hereditary sensory neuropathy type 1 mutations confer dominant negative effects on serine palmitoyltransferase, critical for sphingolipid synthesis, J. Clin. Invest. 110 (2002) 1301–1308.
- [45] M.A. Simpson, H. Coss, C. Proukakis, D.A. Priestman, D.C. Neville, G. Reinkensmeier, H. Wang, M. Wiznitzer, K. Gurtz, A. Verganelaki, A. Pryde, M.A. Patton, R.A. Dwek, T.D. Butters, F.M. Platt, A.H. Crosby, Infantile-onset symptomatic epilepsy syndrome caused by a homozygous loss-of-function mutation of GM3 synthase, Nat. Genet. 36 (2004) 1225–1229.
- [46] A. Schulz, T. Mousallem, M. Venkataramani, D.A. Persaud-Sawin, A. Zucker, C. Luberto, A. Bielawska, J. Bielawski, J.C.M. Holthuis, S.M. Jazwinski, L. Kozhaya, G.S. Dbaibo, R.M.-N. Boustany, The CLN9 Protein—A regulator of dihydroceramide synthase, J. Biol. Chem. 281 (2006) 2784–2794.
- [47] T. Kolter, K. Sandhoff, Principles of lysosomal membrane digestion— Stimulation of sphingolipid degradation by sphingolipid activator proteins and anionic lysosomal lipids, Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 21 (2005) 81–103.
- [48] F.R. Maxfield, T.E. McGraw, Endocytic recycling, Nat. Rev., Mol. Cell Biol. 5 (2004) 121–132.
- [49] W. Fürst, K. Sandhoff, Activator proteins topology of lysosomal sphingolipid catabolism, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1126 (1992) 1–16.
- [50] E.L. Eskelinen, Y. Tanaka, P. Saftig, At the acidic edge: emerging functions for lysosomal membrane proteins, Trends Cell. Biol. 13 (2003) 137–145.

- [51] K. Suzuki, G.C. Chen, GM1-gangliosidosis (generalized gangliosidosis) morphology chemical pathology, Pathol. Eur. 3 (1968) 389–408.
- [52] K. Harzer, B.C. Paton, A. Poulos, B. Kustermann-Kuhn, W. Roggendorf, T. Grisar, M. Popp, Sphingolipid activator protein deficiency in a 16week-old atypical Gaucher disease patient his fetal sibling: biochemical signs of combined sphingolipidoses, Eur. J. Pediatr. 149 (1989) 31–39.
- [53] K. Sandhoff, T. Kolter, Topologie of glycosphingolipid degradation, Trends Cell. Biol. 6 (1996) 98–103.
- [54] W. Mobius, V. Herzog, K. Sandhoff, G. Schwarzmann, Intracellular distribution of a biotin-labeled ganglioside, GM1 by immunoelectron microscopy after endocytosis in fibroblasts, J. Histochem. Cytochem. 47 (1999) 1005–1014.
- [55] W. Mobius, Y. Ohno-Iwashita, E.G. van Donselaar, V.M. Oorschot, Y. Shimada, T. Fujimoto, H.F. Heijnen, H.J. Geuze, J.W. Slot, Immunoelectron microscopic localization of cholesterol using biotinylated non-cytolytic perfringolysin O, J. Histochem. Cytochem. 50 (2002) 43–55.
- [56] G. Wilkening, T. Linke, G. Uhlhorn-Dierks, K. Sandhoff, Degradation of membrane-bound ganglioside GM1, stimulation by bis(monoacylglycero)phosphate the activator proteins SAP-B GM2-AP, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 35814–35819.
- [57] W. Mobius, E. van Donselaar, Y. Ohno-Iwashita, Y. Shimada, H.F. Heijnen, J.W. Slot, H.J. Geuze, Recycling compartments the internal vesicles of multivesicular bodies harbor most of the cholesterol found in the endocytic pathway, Traffic 4 (2003) 222–231.
- [58] E. Conzelmann, K. Sandhoff, Purification characterization of an activator protein for the degradation of glycolipids GM2 GA2 by hexosaminidase A, Hoppe Seylers Z. Physiol. Chem. 360 (1979) 1837–1849.
- [59] A. Giehl, T. Lemm, O. Bartelsen, K. Sandhoff, A. Blume, Interaction of the GM2-activator protein with phospholipid–ganglioside bilayer membranes with monolayers at the air–water interface, Eur. J. Biochem. 261 (1999) 650–658.
- [60] M. Wendeler, J. Hoernschemeyer, D. Hoffmann, T. Kolter, G. Schwarzmann, K. Sandhoff, Photoaffinity labelling of the human GM2-activator protein. Mechanistic insight into ganglioside GM2 degradation, Eur. J. Biochem. 271 (2004) 614–627.
- [61] C.P. Ponting, Acid sphingomyelinase possesses a domain homologous to its activator proteins: saposins B and D, Protein Sci. 3 (1994) 359–361.
- [62] F. Winau, V. Schwierzeck, R. Hurwitz, N. Remmel, P.A. Sieling, R.L. Modlin, S.A. Porcelli, V. Brinkmann, M. Sugita, K. Sandhoff, S.H. Kaufmann, U.E. Schaible, Saposin C is required for lipid presentation by human CD1b, Nat. Immunol. 5 (2004) 169–174.
- [63] S.J. Kang, P. Cresswell, Saposins facilitate CD1d-restricted presentation of an exogenous lipid antigen to T cells, Nat. Immunol. 5 (2004) 175–181.
- [64] D. Zhou, C. Cantu III, Y. Sagiv, N. Schrantz, A.B. Kulkarni, X. Qi, D.J. Mahuran, C.R. Morales, G.A. Grabowski, K. Benlagha, P. Savage, A. Bendelac, L. Teyton, Editing of CD1d-bound lipid antigens by endosomal lipid transfer proteins, Science 303 (2004) 523–527.
- [65] B. Amidon, A. Brown, M. Waite, Transacylase phospholipases in the synthesis of bis(monoacylglycero)phosphate, Biochemistry 35 (1996) 13995–14002.
- [66] J. Brotherus, O. Renkonen, Subcellular distributions of lipids in cultured BHK cells: evidence for the enrichment of lysobisphosphatidic acid neutral lipids in lysosomes, J. Lipid Res. 18 (1977) 191–202.
- [67] Y. Matsuzawa, K.Y. Hostetler, Degradation of bis(monoacylglycero) phosphate by an acid phosphodiesterase in rat liver lysosomes, J. Biol. Chem. 254 (1979) 5997–6001.
- [68] T. Kobayashi, E. Stang, K.S. Fang, P. de Moerloose, R.G. Parton, J. Gruenberg, A lipid associated with the antiphospholipid syndrome regulates endosome structure function, Nature 392 (1998) 193–197.
- [69] T. Chojnacki, G. Dallner, The biological role of dolichol, Biochem. J. 251 (1988) 1–9.
- [70] N. Werth, C.G. Schuette, G. Wilkening, T. Lemm, K. Sandhoff, Degradation of membrane-bound ganglioside GM2 by beta-hexosaminidase A: stimulation by GM2 activator protein and lysosomal lipids, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 12685–12690.
- [71] F. Sarmientos, G. Schwarzmann, K. Sandhoff, Specificity of human

glucosylceramide beta-glucosidase towards synthetic glucosylsphingolipids inserted into liposomes. Kinetic studies in a detergent-free assay system, Eur. J. Biochem. 160 (1986) 527–535.

- [72] R. Salvioli, M. Tatti, F. Ciaffoni, A.M. Vaccaro, Further studies on the reconstitution of glucosylceramidase activity by Sap C anionic phospholipids, FEBS Lett. 472 (2000) 17–21.
- [73] A. Vellodi, Lysosomal storage disorders. B, J. Haematol. 128 (2004) 413–431.
- [74] F.M. Platt, S.U. Walkley, Lysosomal defects storage, in: F.M. Platt, S.U. Walkley (Eds.), Lysosomal Disorders of the Brain, Oxford University Press, Inc., New York, 2004, pp. 32–49, Chap. 2.
- [75] B.G. Winchester, Primary defects in lysosomal enzymes, in: F.M. Platt, S. U. Walkley (Eds.), Lysosomal disorders of the brain, Oxford University Press, Inc., New York, 2004, pp. 81–130, Chap. 4.
- [76] A.H. Futerman, G. van Meer, The cell biology of lysosomal storage disorders, Nat. Rev., Mol. Cell Biol. 5 (2004) 554–565.
- [77] K. Suzuki, K. Suzuki, Lysosomal diseases, in: J.G. Greenfield, D.I. Graham, P.E. Lantos (Eds.), Greenfield's Neuropathology, 7th ed., Hodder Arnold, 2002, pp. 653–735.
- [78] P.J. Meikle, J.J. Hopwood, A.E. Clague, W.F. Carey, Prevalence of lysosomal storage disorders, J. Am. Med. Assoc. 281 (1999) 249–254.
- [79] K. Sandhoff, T. Kolter, K. Harzer, Sphingolipid activator proteins, in: C. R. Scriver, A.L. Beaudet, W.S. Sly, D. Valle (Eds.), 8th ed., The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease, vol. III, McGraw-Hill, New York, 2001, pp. 3371–3388.
- [80] A. Raas-Rothschild, I. Pankova-Kholmyansky, Y. Kacher, A.H. Futerman, Glycosphingolipidoses: beyond the enzymatic defect, Glycoconj. J. 21 (2004) 295–304.
- [81] T. Kolter, K. Sandhoff, Recent advances in the biochemistry of sphingolipidoses, Brain Pathol. 8 (1998) 79–100.
- [82] A. Zschoche, W. Fürst, G. Schwarzmann, K. Sanhoff, Hydrolysis of lactosylceramide by human galactosylceramidase GM1-beta-galactosidase in a detergent-free system its stimulation by sphingolipid activator proteins, sap-B sap-C. Activator proteins stimulate lactosylceramide hydrolysis, Eur. J. Biochem. 222 (1994) 83–90.
- [83] K. Suzuki, R.L. Proia, K. Suzuki, Mouse models of human lysosomal diseases, Brain Pathol. 8 (1998) 195–215.
- [84] K. Suzuki, M.T. Vanier, Induced mouse models of abnormal sphingolipid metabolism, J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 124 (1998) 8–19.
- [85] R. Sano, V.M. Trindade, A. Tessitore, A. d'Azzo, M.B. Vieira, R. Giugliani, J.C. Coelho, G(M1)-ganglioside degradation and biosynthesis in human and murine G(M1)-gangliosidosis, Clin. Chim. Acta 354 (2005) 131–139.
- [86] . Y. Suzuki, A. Oshima, E. Nanba, β-galactosidase deficiency (βgalactosidosis): GM1 gangliosidosis and morquio B disease, in: C.R. Scriver, A.L. Beaudet, W.S. Sly, D. Valle (Eds.), The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease, 8th edn., McGraw-Hill, New York, 2001, pp. 3775–3809.
- [87] A. d'Azzo, G. Andria, P. Strisciuglio, H. Galjaard, Galactosialidosis, in: C.R. Scriver, A.L. Beaudet, W.S. Sly, D. Valle (Eds.), The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease, 8th ed., McGraw-Hill, New York, 2001, pp. 3811–3826.
- [88] A.V. Pshezhetsky, M. Ashmarina, Lysosomal multienzyme complex: biochemistry, genetics, and molecular pathophysiology, Prog. Nucleic Acid Res. Mol. Biol. 69 (2001) 81–114.
- [89] H. Jatzkewitz, K. Sandhoff, On a biochemically special form of infantile amaturotic idiocy, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 70 (1963) 354–356.
- [90] G. Wu, Z.H. Lu, J. Wang, Y. Wang, X. Xie, M.F. Meyenhofer, R.W. Ledeen, Enhanced susceptibility to kainate-induced seizures, neuronal apoptosis, and death in mice lacking gangliotetraose gangliosides: protection with LIGA 20, a membrane-permeant analog of GM1, J. Neurosci. 25 (2005) 11014–11022.
- [91] A.P.M.M. del Tessitore, R. Sano, Y. Ma, L. Mann, A. Ingrassia, E.D. Laywell, D.A. Steindler, L.M. Hendershot, A. d'Azzo, GM1-gangliosidemediated activation of the unfolded protein response causes neuronal death in a neurodegenerative gangliosidosis, Mol. Cell 15 (2004) 753–766.
- [92] K. Yoshida, A. Oshima, M. Shimmoto, Y. Fukuhara, H. Sakuraba, N.

Yanagisawa, Y. Suzuki, Human beta-galactosidase gene mutations in GM1-gangliosidosis: a common mutation among Japanese adult/chronic cases, Am. J. Hum. Genet. 49 (1991) 435–442.

- [93] C.N. Hahn, M. del Pilar Martin, M. Schroder, M.T. Vanier, Y. Hara, K. Suzuki, A. d'Azzo, Generalized CNS disease massive GM1-ganglioside accumulation in mice defective in lysosomal acid beta-galactosidase, Hum. Mol. Genet. 6 (1997) 205–211.
- [94] J.P. Shield, J. Stone, C.G. Steward, Bone marrow transplantation correcting beta-galactosidase activity does not influence neurological outcome in juvenile GM1-gangliosidosis, J. Inherit. Metab. Dis. 28 (2005) 797–798.
- [95] J. Matsuda, O. Suzuki, A. Oshima, Y. Yamamoto, A. Noguchi, K. Takimoto, M. Itoh, Y. Matsuzaki, Y. Yasuda, S. Ogawa, Y. Sakata, E. Nanba, K. Higaki, Y. Ogawa, L. Tominaga, K. Ohno, H. Iwasaki, H. Watanabe, R.O. Brady, Y. Suzuki, Chemical chaperone therapy for brain pathology in G(M1)-gangliosidosis, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100 (2003) 15912–15917.
- [96] J.L. Kasperzyk, A. d'Azzo, F.M. Platt, J. Alroy, T.N. Seyfried, Substrate reduction reduces gangliosides in postnatal cerebrum-brainstem and cerebellum in GM1 gangliosidosis mice, J. Lipid Res. 46 (2005) 744–751.
- [97] T. Okumiya, H. Sakuraba, R. Kase, T. Sugiura, Imbalanced substrate specificity of mutant beta-galactosidase in patients with Morquio B disease, Mol. Genet. Metab. 78 (2003) 51–58.
- [98] R.A. Gravel, M.M. Kaback, R.L. Proia, K. Sandhoff, K. Suzuki, K. Suzuki, The GM2 Gangliosidoses, in: C.R. Scriver, A.L. Beaudet, W.S. Sly, D. Valle (Eds.), 8th ed., The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease, vol. III, McGraw-Hill, New York, 2001, pp. 3827–3876.
- [99] K. Sandhoff, E. Conzelmann, E. Neufeld, M.M. Kaback, K. Suzuki, The GM2 gangliosidoses, in: C. Scriver, A.L. Beaudet, W.S. Sly, D. Valle (Eds.), The Metabolic Bases of Inherited Disease, 6th ed., Mc Graw-Hill, NY, 1989, pp. 1807–1839.
- [100] H.J. Kytzia, K. Sandhoff, Evidence for two different active sites on human beta-hexosaminidase A, Interaction of GM2 activator protein with beta-hexosaminidase A, J. Biol. Chem. 260 (1985) 7568–7572.
- [101] T. Maier, N. Strater, C.G. Schuette, R. Klingenstein, K. Sandhoff, W. Saenger, The X-ray crystal structure of human beta-hexosaminidase B provides new insights into Sandhoff disease, J. Mol. Biol. 328 (2003) 669–681.
- [102] B.L. Mark, D.J. Mahuran, M.M. Cherney, D. Zhao, S. Knapp, M.N. James, Crystal structure of human beta-hexosaminidase B: understanding the molecular basis of Sandhoff Tay–Sachs disease, J. Mol. Biol. 327 (2003) 1093–1109.
- [103] S.T. Hepbildikler, R. Sandhoff, M. Kölzer, R.L. Proia, K. Sandhoff, Physiological substrates for human lysosomal beta-hexosaminidase S, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 2562–2572.
- [104] J.A.F. Filho, B.E. Shapiro, Tay Sachs disease, Arch. Neurol. 61 (2004) 466–468.
- [105] H.J. Kytzia, U. Hinrichs, I. Maire, K. Suzuki, K. Sandhoff, Variant of GM2-gangliosidosis with hexosaminidase A having a severely changed substrate specificity, EMBO J. 2 (1983) 1201–1205.
- [106] K. Suzuki, M.T. Vanier, Biochemical molecular aspects of late-onset GM2-gangliosidosis: B1 variant as a prototype, Dev. Neurosci. 13 (1991) 288–294.
- [107] K. Sandhoff, K. Harzer, W. Wassle, H. Jatzkewitz, Enzyme alterations lipid storage in three variants of Tay–Sachs disease, J. Neurochem. 18 (1971) 2469–2489.
- [108] E. Conzelmann, K. Sandhoff, AB variant of infantile GM2 gangliosidosis: deficiency of a factor necessary for stimulation of hexosaminidase A-catalyzed degradation of ganglioside GM2 glycolipid GA2, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 75 (1978) 3979–3983.
- [109] D. Tsuji, A. Kuroki, Y. Ishibashi, T. Itakura, J. Kuwahara, S. Yamanaka, K. Itoh, Specific induction of macrophage inflammatory protein 1-alpha in glial cells of Sandhoff disease model mice associated with accumulation of N-acetylhexosaminyl glycoconjugates, J. Neurochem. 92 (2005) 1497–1507.
- [110] S. Neuenhofer, E. Conzelmann, G. Schwarzmann, H. Egge, K. Sandhoff,

Occurrence of lysoganglioside lyso-GM2 (II3-Neu5Ac-gangliotriaosylsphingosine) in GM2 gangliosidosis brain, Biol. Chem. Hoppe-Seyler 367 (1986) 241–244.

- [111] T. Kobayashi, I. Goto, S. Okada, T. Orii, K. Ohno, T. Nakano, Accumulation of lysosphingolipids in tissues from patients with GM1 GM2 gangliosidoses, J. Neurochem. 59 (1992) 1452–1458.
- [112] F. Norflus, C.J. Tifft, M.P. McDonald, G. Goldstein, J.N. Crawley, A. Hoffmann, K. Sandhoff, K. Suzuki, R.L. Proia, Bone marrow transplantation prolongs life span ameliorates neurologic manifestations in Sandhoff disease mice, J. Clin. Invest. 101 (1998) 1881–1888.
- [113] K. Sango, S. Yamanaka, A. Hoffmann, Y. Okuda, A. Grinberg, H. Westphal, M.P. McDonald, J.N. Crawley, K. Sandhoff, K. Suzuki, R.L. Proia, Mouse models of Tay–Sachs Sandhoff diseases differ in neurologic phenotype ganglioside metabolism, Nat. Genet. 11 (1995) 170–176.
- [114] M. Jeyakumar, D. Smith, E. Eliott-Smith, M. Cortina-Borja, G. Reinkensmeier, T.D. Butters, T. Lemm, K. Sandhoff, V.H. Perry, R.A. Dwek, F.M. Platt, An inducible mouse model of late onset Tay–Sachs disease, Neurobiol. Dis. 10 (2002) 201–210.
- [115] R.J. Desnick, Y.A. Ioannou, α-Galactosidase a deficiency fabry disease, in: C.R. Scriver, A.L. Beaudet, W.S. Sly, D. Valle (Eds.), The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease, 8th ed., McGraw-Hill, New York, 2001, pp. 3733–3774.
- [116] Z. Lukacs, A. Keil, A. Kohlschutter, M. Beck, E. Mengel, The ratio of alpha-galactosidase to beta-glucuronidase activities in dried blood for the identification of female Fabry disease patients, J. Inherit. Metab. Dis. 28 (2005) 803–805.
- [117] T. Ohshima, G.J. Murray, W.D. Swaim, G. Longenecker, J.M. Quirk, C.O. Cardarelli, Y. Sugimoto, I. Pastan, M.M. Gottesman, R.O. Brady, A.B. Kulkarni, alpha-Galactosidase A deficient mice: a model of Fabry disease, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 94 (1997) 2540–2544.
- [118] J. Park, G.J. Murray, A. Limaye, J.M. Quirk, M.P. Gelderman, R.O. Brady, P. Qasba, Long-term correction of globotriaosylceramide storage in Fabry mice by recombinant adenoassociated virus-mediated gene transfer, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100 (2003) 3450–3454.
- [119] R. Schiffmann, J.B. Kopp, H.A. Austin III, S. Sabnis, D.F. Moore, T. Weibel, J.E. Balow, R.O. Brady, Enzyme replacement therapy in Fabry disease: a randomized controlled trial, JAMA 285 (2001) 2743–2749.
- [120] C.M. Eng, N. Guffon, W.R. Wilcox, D.P. Germain, P. Lee, S. Waldek, L. Caplan, G.E. Linthorst, R.J. Desnick, Safety efficacy of recombinant human alpha-galactosidase A-replacement therapy in Fabry's disease, N. Engl. J. Med. 345 (2001) 9–16.
- [121] A. Frustaci, C. Chimenti, R. Ricci, L. Natale, M.A. Russo, M. Pieroni, C.M. Eng, R.J. Desnick, Improvement in cardiac function in the cardiac variant of Fabry's disease with galactose-infusion therapy, N. Engl. J. Med. 345 (2001) 25–32.
- [122] J.Q. Fan, S. Ishii, N. Asano, Y. Suzuki, Accelerated transport maturation of lysosomal alpha-galactosidase A in Fabry lymphoblasts by an enzyme inhibitor, Nat. Med. 5 (1999) 112–115.
- [123] N. Asano, S. Ishii, H. Kizu, K. Ikeda, K. Yasuda, A. Kato, O.R. Martin, J. Q. Fan, In vitro inhibition and intracellular enhancement of lysosomal alpha-galactosidase A activity in Fabry lymphoblasts by 1-deoxygalacto-nojirimycin and its derivatives, Eur. J. Biochem. 267 (2000) 4179–4186.
- [124] G.H. Yam, C. Zuber, J. Roth, A synthetic chaperone corrects the trafficking defect and disease phenotype in a protein misfolding disorder, FASEB J. 19 (2005) 12–18.
- [125] S. Ishii, H. Yoshioka, K. Mannen, A.B. Kulkarni, J.Q. Fan, Transgenic mouse expressing human mutant alpha-galactosidase A in an endogenous enzyme deficient background: a biochemical animal model for studying active-site specific chaperone therapy for Fabry disease, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1690 (2004) 250–257.
- [126] H. Zhao, G.A. Grabowski, Gaucher disease: perspectives on a prototype lysosomal disease, Cell Mol. Life Sci. 59 (2002) 694–707.
- [127] M. Jmoudiak, A.H. Futerman, Gaucher disease: pathological mechanisms and modern management, Br. J. Haematol. 129 (2005) 178–188.
- [128] R.O. Brady, J.N. Kanfer, D. Shapiro, Metabolism of glucocerebrosides. II. Evidence of an enzymatic deficiency in Gaucher's disease, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 18 (1965) 221–225.

- [129] A.D. Patrick, Short communications: a deficiency of glucocerebrosidase in Gaucher's disease, Biochem. J. 97 (1965) 17C-18C.
- [130] E. Beutler, G.A. Grabowski, Gaucher Disease, in: C. Scriver, A.L. Beaudet, D. Valle, W.S. Sly, B. Childs, K.W. Kinzler, B. Vogelstein (Eds.), The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease, 8th ed., McGraw-Hill, New York, 2001, pp. 3635–3668.
- [131] H. Dvir, M. Harel, A.A. McCarthy, L. Toker, I. Silman, A.H. Futerman, J.L. Sussman, X-ray structure of human acid-beta-glucosidase, the defective enzyme in Gaucher disease, EMBO Rep. 4 (2003) 704–709.
- [132] L. Premkumar, A.R. Sawkar, S. Boldin-Adamsky, L. Toker, I. Silman, J.W. Kelly, A.H. Futerman, J.L. Sussman, X-ray structure of human acid β-glucosidase covalently-bound to conduritol-β-epoxide: implications for Gaucher disease, J. Biol. Chem. (2005).
- [133] B. Liou, A. Kazimierczuk, M. Zhang, C.R. Scott, R.S. Hegde, G.A. Grabowski, Analyses of variant acid beta-glucosidases: effects of gaucher disease mutations, J. Biol. Chem. 281 (2006) 4242–4253.
- [134] S.L. Berent, N.S. Radin, Mechanism of activation of glucocerebrosidase by co-beta-glucosidase (glucosidase activator protein), Biochim. Biophys. Acta 664 (1981) 572–582.
- [135] D. Fabbro, G.A. Grabowski, Human acid beta-glucosidase. Use of inhibitory activating monoclonal antibodies to investigate the enzyme's catalytic mechanism saposin A C binding sites, J. Biol. Chem. 266 (1991) 15021–15027.
- [136] A.M. Vaccaro, M. Tatti, F. Ciaffoni, R. Salvioli, A. Barca, C. Scerch, Effect of saposins A C on the enzymatic hydrolysis of liposomal glucosylceramide, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 16862–16867.
- [137] G. Wilkening, T. Linke, K. Sandhoff, Lysosomal degradation on vesicular membrane surfaces. Enhanced glucosylceramide degradation by lysosomal anionic lipids activators, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 30271–30278.
- [138] K. Liu, C. Commens, R. Choong, R. Jaworski, Collodion babies with Gaucher's disease, Arch. Dis. Child. 63 (1988) 854–856.
- [139] I. Meivar-Levy, M. Horowitz, A.H. Futerman, Analysis of glucocerebrosidase activity using N-(1-[14C]hexanoyl)-D-erythroglucosylsphingosine demonstrates a correlation between levels of residual enzyme activity the type of Gaucher disease, Biochem. J. 303 (1994) 377–382.
- [140] C.E. Hollak, L. Evers, J.M. Aerts, M.H. van Oers, Elevated levels of M-CSF, sCD14 and IL8 in type 1 Gaucher disease, Blood Cells Mol., Diseases 23 (1997) 201–212.
- [141] E. Orvisky, E. Sidransky, C.E. McKinney, M.E. Lamarca, R. Samimi, D. Krasnewich, B.M. Martin, E.I. Ginns, Glucosylsphingosine accumulation in mice patients with type 2 Gaucher disease begins early in gestation, Pediatr. Res. 48 (2000) 233–237.
- [142] H. Mizukami, Y. Mi, R. Wada, M. Kono, T. Yamashita, Y. Liu, N. Werth, R. Sandhoff, K. Sandhoff, R.L. Proia, Systemic inflammation in glucocerebrosidase-deficient mice with minimal glucosylceramide storage, J. Clin. Invest. 109 (2002) 1215–1221.
- [143] C.E. Hollak, S. van Weely, M.H. van Oers, J.M. Aerts, Marked elevation of plasma chitotriosidase activity. A novel hallmark of Gaucher disease, J. Clin. Invest. 93 (1994) 1288–1292.
- [144] M.A. Rafi, G. de Gala, X.L. Zhang, D.A. Wenger, Mutational analysis in a patient with a variant form of Gaucher disease caused by SAP-2 deficiency, Somat. Cell Mol. Genet. 19 (1993) 1–7.
- [145] R. Salvioli, M. Tatti, S. Scarpa, S.M. Moavero, F. Ciaffoni, F. Felicetti, C. R. Kaneski, R.O. Brady, A.M. Vaccaro, The N370S mutation affects the capacity of glucosylceramidase to interact with anionic phospholipid-containing membranes and Saposin C, Biochem. J. 390 (2005) 95–103.
- [146] V.L.J. Tybulewicz, M.L. Tremblay, M.E. LaMarca, R. Willemsen, B.K. Stubblefield, S. Winfield, B. Zablocka, E. Sidransky, B.M. Martin, S.P. Huang, K.A. Mintzer, H. Westphal, R.C. Mulligan, E.I. Ginns, Animal model of Gaucher's disease from targeted disruption of the mouse glucocerebrosidase gene, Nature 357 (1992) 407–410.
- [147] Y.H. Xu, B. Quinn, D. Witte, G.A. Grabowski, Viable mouse models of acid beta-glucosidase deficiency: the defect in Gaucher disease, Am. J. Pathol. 163 (2003) 2093–2101.
- [148] R.O. Brady, Enzyme replacement therapy: conception, chaos and culmination, Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond., B 358 (2003) 915–919.
- [149] N.W. Barton, F.S. Furbish, G.J. Murray, M. Garfield, R.O. Brady,

Therapeutic response to intravenous infusions of glucocerebrosidase in a patient with Gaucher disease, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 87 (1990) 1913–1916.

- [150] P.E. Campbell, C.M. Harris, A. Vellodi, Deterioration of the auditory brainstem response in children with type 3 Gaucher disease, Neurology 63 (2004) 385–387.
- [151] J.R. Hobbs, K.H. Jones, P.J. Shaw, I. Lindsay, M. Hancock, Beneficial effect of pre-transplant splenectomy on displacement bone marrow transplantation for Gaucher's syndrome, Lancet 1 (1987) 1111–1115.
- [152] A. Erikson, C.G. Groth, J.E. Mansson, A. Percy, O. Ringden, L. Svennerholm, Clinical and biochemical outcome of marrow transplantation for Gaucher disease of the Norrbottnian type, Acta Paediatr. Scand. 79 (1990) 680–685.
- [153] O. Ringden, C.G. Groth, A. Erikson, S. Granqvist, J.E. Mansson, E. Sparrelid, Ten years' experience of bone marrow transplantation for Gaucher disease, Transplantation 59 (1995) 864–870.
- [154] H. Yabe, M. Yabe, K. Hattori, H. Inoue, M. Matsumoto, S. Hamanoue, A. Hiroi, T. Koike, S. Kato, Secondary G-CSF mobilized blood stem cell transplantation without preconditioning in a patient with Gaucher disease: report of a new approach which resulted in complete reversal of severe skeletal involvement, Tokai J. Exp. Clin. Med. 30 (2005) 77–82.
- [155] V. Gieselmann, S. Franken, D. Klein, J.E. Mansson, R. Sandhoff, R. Lüllmann-Rauch, D. Hartmann, M. Saravanan, P.P. De Deyn, R. D'Hooge, A.M. Van Der Linden, N. Schaeren-Wiemers, Metachromatic leukodystrophy: consequences of sulphatide accumulation, Acta Paedriatr., Suppl. 443 (2003) 74–79.
- [156] V. Gieselmann, Metachromatic leukodystrophy: recent research developments, J. Child Neurol. 18 (2003) 591–594.
- [157] K. von Figura, V. Gieselmann, J. Jaeken, Metachromatic leukodystrophy, in: C.R. Scriver, A.L. Beaudet, W.S. Sly, D. Valle (Eds.), The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease, 8th ed., McGraw-Hill, New York, 2001, pp. 3695–3724.
- [158] E. Mehl, H. Jatzkewitz, A cerebrosidesulfatase from swine kidney, Hoppe-Seylers Z. Physiol. Chem. 339 (1964) 260–276.
- [159] A. Polten, A.L. Fluharty, C.B. Fluharty, J. Kappler, K. von Figura, V. Gieselmann, Molecular basis of different forms of metachromatic leukodystrophy, N. Engl. J. Med. 324 (1991) 18–22.
- [160] M.L. Barth, A. Fensom, A. Harris, Prevalence of common mutations in the arylsulphatase A gene in metachromatic leukodystrophy patients diagnosed in Britain, Hum. Genet. 91 (1993) 73–77.
- [161] W. Schlote, K. Harzer, H. Christomanou, B.C. Paton, B. Kustermann-Kuhn, B. Schmid, J. Seeger, U. Beudt, I. Schuster, U. Langenbeck, Sphingolipid activator protein 1 deficiency in metachromatic leucodystrophy with normal arylsulphatase A activity. A clinical, morphological, biochemical, immunological study, Eur. J. Pediatr. 150 (1991) 584–591.
- [162] B. Hess, P. Saftig, D. Hartmann, R. Coenen, R. Lullmann-Rauch, H.H. Goebel, M. Evers, K. von Figura, R. D'Hooge, G. Nagels, P. De Deyn, C. Peters, V. Gieselmann, Phenotype of arylsulfatase A-deficient mice: relationship to human metachromatic leukodystrophy, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 93 (1996) 14821–14826.
- [163] U. Matzner, E. Herbst, K.K. Hedayati, R. Lüllmann-Rauch, C. Wessig, S. Schröder, C. Eistrup, C. Möller, J. Fogh, V. Gieselmann, Enzyme replacement improves nervous system pathology and function in a mouse model for metachromatic leukodystrophy, Hum. Mol. Genet. 14 (2005) 1139–1152.
- [164] P. Kapaun, R.W. Dittmann, B. Granitzny, W. Eickhoff, H. Wulbrand, E. Neumaier-Probst, A. Zander, A. Kohlschuetter, Slow progression of juvenile metachromatic leukodystrophy 6 years after bone marrow transplantation, J. Child Neurol. 14 (1999) 222–228.
- [165] A. Biffi, M. De Palma, A. Quattrini, U. Del Carro, S. Amadio, I. Visigalli, M. Sessa, S. Fasano, R. Brambilla, S. Marchesini, C. Bordignon, L. Naldini, Correction of metachromatic leukodystrophy in the mouse model by transplantation of genetically modified hematopoietic stem cells, J. Clin. Invest. 113 (2004) 1118–1129.
- [166] J.J. Hopwood, A. Ballabio, Multiple sulfatase deficiency and the nature of the sulfatase family, in: C.R. Scriver, A.L. Beaudet, W.S. Sly, D. Valle (Eds.), The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease, 8th ed., McGraw-Hill, New York, 2001, pp. 3725–3732.

- [167] B. Schmidt, T. Selmer, A. Ingendoh, K. von Figura, A novel amino acid modification in sulfatases that is defective in multiple sulfatase deficiency, Cell 82 (1995) 271–278.
- [168] T. Dierks, B. Schmidt, L.V. Borissenko, J. Peng, A. Preusser, M. Mariappan, K. von Figura, Multiple sulfatase deficiency is caused by mutations in the gene encoding the human C(alpha)-formylglycine generating enzyme, Cell 113 (2003) 435–444.
- [169] K. Suzuki, Y. Suzuki, Globoid cell leucodystrophy (Krabbe's disease): deficiency of galactocerebroside beta-galactosidase, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 66 (1970) 302–309.
- [170] D.A. Wenger, K. Suzuki, Y. Suzuki, K. Suzuki, Galactosylceramide lipidosis: globoid cell leukodystrophy (Krabbe disease), in: C.R. Scriver, A.L. Beaudet, W.S. Sly, D. Valle (Eds.), The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease, 8th ed., McGraw-Hill, New York, 2001, pp. 3669–3694.
- [171] M.A. Rafi, P. Luzi, Y.Q. Chen, D.A. Wenger, A large deletion together with a point mutation in the GALC gene is a common mutant allele in patients with infantile Krabbe disease, Hum. Mol. Genet. 4 (1995) 1285–1289.
- [172] S. Selleri, E. Torchiana, D. Pareyson, L. Lulli, B. Bertagnolio, M. Savoiardo, L. Farina, F. Carrara, M. Filocamo, R. Gatti, A. Sghirlanzoni, G. Uziel, G. Finocchiaro, Deletion of exons 11–17 novel mutations of the galactocerebrosidase gene in adult-early-onset patients with Krabbe disease, J. Neurol. 247 (2000) 875–877.
- [173] N. Sakai, K. Inui, N. Tatsumi, H. Fukushima, T. Nishigaki, M. Taniike, J. Nishimoto, H. Tsukamoto, I. Yanagihara, K. Ozono, S. Okada, Molecular cloning expression of cDNA for murine galactocerebrosidase mutation analysis of the twitcher mouse, a model of Krabbe's disease, J. Neurochem. 66 (1996) 1118–1124.
- [174] P. Luzi, M.A. Rafi, M. Zaka, M. Curtis, M.T. Vanier, D.A. Wenger, Generation of a mouse with low galactocerebrosidase activity by gene targeting: a new model of globoid cell leukodystrophy (Krabbe disease), Mol. Genet. Metab. 73 (2001) 211–223.
- [175] S.M. LeVine, D.C. Brown, IL-6 and TNFα expression in brains of twitcher, quaking and normal mice, J. Neuroimmunol. 73 (1997) 47–56.
- [176] T.V. Pedchenko, S.M. LeVine, IL-6 deficiency causes enhanced pathology in twitcher (globoid cell leukodystrophy) mice, Exp. Neurol. 158 (1999) 459–468.
- [177] T. Ezoe, M.T. Vanier, Y. Oya, B. Popko, J. Tohyama, J. Matsuda, K. Suzuki, K. Suzuki, Biochemistry and neuropathology of mice doubly deficient in synthesis and degradation of galactosylceramide, J. Neurosci. Res. 59 (2000) 170–178.
- [178] M.L. Escolar, M.D. Poe, J.M. Provenzale, K.C. Richards, J. Allison, S. Wood, D.A. Wenger, D. Pietryga, D. Wall, M. Champagne, R. Morse, W. Krivit, J. Kurtzberg, Transplantation of umbilical-cord blood in babies with infantile Krabbe's disease, N. Engl. J. Med. 352 (2005) 2124–2126.
- [179] W.C. Lee, A. Courtenay, F.J. Troendle, M.L. Stallings-Mann, C.A. Dickey, M.W. DeLucia, D.W. Dickson, C.B. Eckman, Enzyme replacement therapy results in substantial improvements in early clinical phenotype in a mouse model of globoid cell leukodystrophy, FASEB J. 19 (2005) 1549–1551.
- [180] M.C. Patterson, M.T. Vanier, K. Suzuki, J.A. Morris, E. Carstea, E.B. Neufeld, J.E. Blanchette-Mackie, P.G. Pentchev, Niemann–Pick disease type C: a lipid trafficking disorder, in: C.R. Scriver, A.L. Beaudet, W.S. Sly, D. Valle (Eds.), 8th ed., The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease, vol. III, McGraw-Hill, New York, 2001, pp. 3611–3633, Chapt. 145.
- [181] M.C. Patterson, A riddle wrapped in a mystery: understanding Niemann-Pick disease, type C, Neurolog. 9 (2003) 301–310.
- [182] R. Hurwitz, K. Ferlinz, K. Sandhoff, The tricyclic antidepressant desipramine causes proteolytic degradation of lysosomal sphingomyelinase in human fibroblasts, Biol. Chem. Hoppe-Seyler 375 (1994) 447–450.
- [183] M. Koelzer, N. Werth, K. Sandhoff, Interactions of acid sphingomyelinase and lipid bilayers in the presence of the tricyclic antidepressant desipramine, FEBS Lett. 559 (2004) 96–98.
- [184] E.H. Schuchman, R.J. Desnick, Niemann–Pick disease types A B: acid sphingomyelinase deficiencies, in: C.R. Scriver, A.L. Beaudet, W.S. Sly,

D. Valle (Eds.), The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease, 8th ed., McGraw-Hill, New York, 2001, pp. 3589–3610.

- [185] S. Lansmann, C.G. Schuette, O. Bartelsen, J. Hoernschemeyer, T. Linke, J. Weisgerber, K. Sandhoff, Human acid sphingomyelinase, Eur. J. Biochem. 270 (2003) 1076–1088.
- [186] T. Linke, G. Wilkening, S. Lansmann, H. Moczall, O. Bartelsen, J. Weisgerber, K. Sandhoff, Stimulation of acid sphingomyelinase activity by lysosomal lipids sphingolipid activator proteins, Biol. Chem. 382 (2001) 283–290.
- [187] D. Graber, R. Salvayre, T. Levade, Accurate differentiation of neuronopathic nonneuronopathic forms of Niemann–Pick disease by evaluation of the effective residual lysosomal sphingomyelinase activity in intact cells, J. Neurochem. 63 (1994) 1060–1068.
- [188] W.J. van Blitterswijk, A.H. van der Luit, R.J. Veldman, M. Verheij, J. Borst, Ceramide: second messenger or modulator of membrane structure dynamics? Biochem. J. 369 (2003) 199–211.
- [189] O. Utermöhlen, U. Karow, J. Lohler, M. Kronke, Severe impairment in early host defense against Listeria monocytogenes in mice deficient in acid sphingomyelinase, J. Immunol. 170 (2003) 2621–2628.
- [190] P.M. Strasberg, J.W. Callahan, Lysosphingolipids mitochondrial function.
 II. Deleterious effects of sphingosylphosphorylcholine, Biochem. Cell. Biol. 66 (1988) 1322–1332.
- [191] K. Horinouchi, S. Erlich, D.P. Perl, K. Ferlinz, C.L. Bisgaier, K. Sandhoff, R.J. Desnick, C.L. Stewart, E.H. Schuchman, Acid sphingo-myelinase deficient mice: a model of types A B Niemann–Pick disease, Nat. Genet. 10 (1995) 288–293.
- [192] B. Otterbach, W. Stoffel, Acid sphingomyelinase-deficient mice mimic the neurovisceral form of human lysosomal storage disease (Niemann–Pick disease), Cell 81 (1995) 1053–1061.
- [193] A. Vellodi, J.R. Hobbs, N.M. O'Donnell, B.S. Coulter, K. Hugh-Jones, Treatment of Niemann–Pick disease type B by allogeneic bone marrow transplantation, Br. Med. J. (Clin. Res. Ed.) 295 (1987) 1375–1376.
- [194] E. Bayever, N. Kamani, P. Ferreira, G.A. Machin, M. Yudkoff, K. Conard, M. Palmieri, J. Radcliffe, D.A. Wenger, C.S. August, Bone marrow transplantation for Niemann–Pick type IA disease, J. Inherit. Metab. Dis. 15 (1992) 919–928.
- [195] H.W. Moser, T. Linke, A.H. Fensom, T. Levade, K. Sandhoff, Acid ceramidase deficiency: farber lipogranulomatosis, in: C.R. Scriver, A.L. Beaudet, W.S. Sly, D. Valle (Eds.), The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease, 8th ed., McGraw-Hill, New York, 2001, pp. 3573–3588.
- [196] K. Bernardo, R. Hurwitz, T. Zenk, R.J. Desnick, K. Ferlinz, E.H. Schuchman, K. Sandhoff, Purification, characterization, biosynthesis of human acid ceramidase, J. Biol. Chem. 270 (1995) 11098–11102.
- [197] J. Koch, S. Gärtner, C.M. Li, L.E. Quintern, K. Bernardo, O. Levran, D. Schnabel, R.J. Desnick, E.H. Schuchman, K. Sandhoff, Molecular cloning characterization of a full-length complementary DNA encoding human acid ceramidase. Identification of the first molecular lesion causing Farber disease, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 33110–33115.
- [198] T. Linke, G. Wilkening, F. Sadeghlar, H. Mozcall, K. Bernardo, E. Schuchman, K. Sandhoff, Interfacial regulation of acid ceramidase activity. Stimulation of ceramide degradation by lysosomal lipids sphingolipid activator proteins, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 5760–5768.
- [199] A. Klein, M. Henseler, C. Klein, K. Suzuki, K. Harzer, K. Sandhoff, Sphingolipid activator protein D (sap-D) stimulates the lysosomal degradation of ceramide in vivo, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 200 (1994) 1440–1448.
- [200] N. Okino, X. He, S. Gatt, K. Sandhoff, M. Ito, E.H. Schuchman, The reverse activity of human acid ceramidase, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 29948–29953.
- [201] J. Bär, T. Linke, K. Ferlinz, U. Neumann, E.H. Schuchman, K. Sandhoff, Molecular analysis of acid ceramidase deficiency in patients with Farber disease, Hum. Mutat. 17 (2001) 199–209.
- [202] C.M. Li, J.H. Park, C.M. Simonaro, X. He, R.E. Gordon, A.H. Friedman, D. Ehleiter, F. Paris, K. Manova, S. Hepbildikler, Z. Fuks, K. Sandhoff, R. Kolesnick, E.H. Schuchman, Insertional mutagenesis of the mouse acid ceramidase gene leads to early embryonic lethality in homozygotes and progressive lipid storage disease in heterozygotes, Genomics 79 (2002) 218–224.

- [203] J. Tohyama, Y. Oya, T. Ezoe, M.T. Vanier, H. Nakayasu, N. Fujita, K. Suzuki, Ceramide accumulation is associated with increased apoptotic cell death in cultured fibroblasts of sphingolipid activator protein-deficient mouse but not in fibroblasts of patients with Farber disease, J. Inherit. Metab. Dis. 22 (1999) 649–662.
- [204] T. Levade, H.W. Moser, A.H. Fensom, K. Harzer, A.B. Moser, R. Salvayre, Neurodegenerative course in ceramidase deficiency (Farber disease) correlates with the residual lysosomal ceramide turnover in cultured living patient cells, J. Neurol. Sci. 134 (1995) 108–114.
- [205] A.M. Yeager, K.A. Uhas, C.D. Coles, P.C. Davis, W.L. Krause, H.W. Moser, Bone marrow transplantation for infantile ceramidase deficiency (Farber disease), Bone Marrow Transplant. 26 (2000) 357–363.
- [206] W. Fürst, W. Machleidt, K. Sandhoff, The precursor of sulfatide activator protein is processed to three different proteins, Biol. Chem. Hoppe-Seyler 369 (1988) 317–328.
- [207] J.S. O'Brien, K.A. Kretz, N. Dewji, D.A. Wenger, F. Esch, A.L. Fluharty, Coding of two sphingolipid activator proteins (SAP-1 SAP-2) by same genetic locus, Science 241 (1988) 1098–1101.
- [208] T. Nakano, K. Sandhoff, J. Stumper, H. Christomanou, K. Suzuki, Structure of full-length cDNA coding for sulfatide activator, a Co-betaglucosidase two other homologous proteins: two alternate forms of the sulfatide activator, J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 105 (1989) 152–154.
- [209] V. Bradova, F. Smid, B. Ulrich-Bott, W. Roggendorf, B.C. Paton, K. Harzer, Prosaposin deficiency: further characterization of the sphingolipid activator protein-deficient sibs. Multiple glycolipid elevations (including lactosylceramidosis), partial enzyme deficiencies ultrastructure of the skin in this generalized sphingolipid storage disease, Hum. Genet. 92 (1993) 143–152.
- [210] D. Schnabel, M. Schröder, W. Fürst, A. Klein, R. Hurwitz, T. Zenk, J. Weberg, K. Harzer, B.C. Patonil, A. Poulos, K. Suzuki, K. Sandhoff, Simultaneous deficiency of sphingolipid activator proteins 1 and 2 is caused by a mutation in the initiation codon of their common gene. J. Biol. Chem. 267 (1992) 3312–3315.
- [211] M. Elleder, M. Jerabkova, A. Befekadu, M. Hrebicek, L. Berna, J. Ledvinova, H. Hulkova, H. Rosewich, N. Schymik, B.C. Paton, K. Harzer, Prosaposin deficiency—A rarely diagnosed, rapidly progressing, neonatal neurovisceral lipid storage disease. Report of a further patient, Neuropediatrics 36 (2005) 171–180.
- [212] H. Hulkova, M. Cervenkova, J. Ledvinova, M. Tochackova, M. Hrebicek, H. Poupetova, A. Befekadu, L. Berna, B.C. Paton, K. Harzer, A. Boor, F. Smid, M. Elleder, A novel mutation in the coding region of the prosaposin gene leads to a complete deficiency of prosaposin saposins, is associated with a complex sphingolipidosis dominated by lactosylceramide accumulation, Hum. Mol. Genet. 10 (2001) 927–940.
- [213] N. Fujita, K. Suzuki, M.T. Vanier, B. Popko, N. Maeda, A. Klein, M. Henseler, K. Sandhoff, H. Nakayasu, Targeted disruption of the mouse sphingolipid activator protein gene: a complex phenotype, including severe leukodystrophy wide-spread storage of multiple sphingolipids, Hum. Mol. Genet. 5 (1996) 711–725.
- [214] J. Matsuda, M.T. Vanier, Y. Saito, J. Tohyama, K. Suzuki, A mutation in the saposin A domain of the sphingolipid activator protein (prosaposin) gene results in a late-onset, chronic form of globoid cell leukodystrophy in the mouse, Hum. Mol. Genet. 10 (2001) 1191–1199.
- [215] R. Spiegel, G. Bach, V. Sury, G. Mengistu, B. Meidan, S. Shalev, Y. Shneor, H. Mandel, M. Zeigler, A mutation in the saposin A coding region of the prosaposin gene in an infant presenting as Krabbe disease: first report of saposin A deficiency in humans, Mol. Genet. Metab. 84 (2005) 160–166.
- [216] A. Vogel, G. Schwarzmann, K. Sandhoff, Glycosphingolipid specificity of the human sulfatide activator protein, Eur. J. Biochem. 200 (1991) 591–597.
- [217] S.C. Li, S. Sonnino, G. Tettamanti, Y.T. Li, Characterization of a nonspecific activator protein for the enzymatic hydrolysis of glycolipids, J. Biol. Chem. 263 (1988) 6588–6591.
- [218] S.C. Li, H. Kihara, S. Serizawa, Y.T. Li, A.L. Fluharty, J.S. Mayes, L.J. Shapiro, Activator protein required for the enzymatic hydrolysis of cerebroside sulfate. Deficiency in urine of patients affected with cerebroside sulfatase activator deficiency identity with activators for the

enzymatic hydrolysis of GM1 ganglioside globotriaosylceramide, J. Biol. Chem. 260 (1985) 1867–1871.

- [219] E. Conzelmann, M. Lee-Vaupel, K. Sandhoff, The physiological roles of activator proteins for lysosomal glycolipid degradation, in: R. Salvayre, L. Douste-Blazy, S. Gatt (Eds.), Lipid Storage Disorders, Plenum Publishing Corporation, New York, 1988, pp. 323–332.
- [220] V.E. Ahn, K.F. Faull, J.P. Whitelegge, A.L. Fluharty, G.G. Prive, Crystal structure of saposin B reveals a dimeric shell for lipid binding, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100 (2003) 38–43.
- [221] K.A. Kretz, G.S. Carson, S. Morimoto, Y. Kishimoto, A.L. Fluharty, J.S. O'Brien, Characterization of a mutation in a family with saposin B deficiency: a glycosylation site defect, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 87 (1990) 2541–2544.
- [222] M.W. Ho, J.S. O'Brien, Gaucher's disease: deficiency of 'acid' betaglucosidase reconstitution of enzyme activity in vitro, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 68 (1971) 2810–2813.
- [223] Y. Sun, X. Qi, G.A. Grabowski, Saposin C is required for normal resistance of acid beta-glucosidase to proteolytic degradation, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 31918–31923.
- [224] E. de Alba, S. Weiler, N. Tjandra, Solution structure of human saposin C: pH-dependent interaction with phospholipid vesicles, Biochemistry 42 (2003) 14729–14740.
- [225] H. Christomanou, A. Aignesberger, R.P. Linke, Immunochemical characterization of two activator proteins stimulating enzymic sphingomyelin degradation in vitro. Absence of one of them in a human Gaucher disease variant, Biol. Chem. Hoppe-Seyler 367 (1986) 879–890.
- [226] D. Schnabel, M. Schröder, K. Sandhoff, Mutation in the sphingolipid activator protein 2 in a patient with a variant of Gaucher disease, FEBS Lett. 284 (1991) 57–59.
- [227] A. Diaz-Font, B. Cormand, R. Santamaria, L. Vilageliu, D. Grinberg, A. Chabas, A mutation within the saposin D domain in a Gaucher disease patient with normal glucocerebrosidase activity, Hum. Genet. 117 (2005) 275–277.
- [228] J. Matsuda, M. Kido, K. Tadano-Aritomi, I. Ishizuka, K. Tominaga, K. Toida, E. Takeda, K. Suzuki, Y.Y. Kuroda, Mutation in saposin D domain of sphingolipid activator protein gene causes urinary system defects and cerebellar Purkinje cell degeneration with accumulation of hydroxy fatty acid-containing ceramide in mouse, Hum. Mol. Genet. 13 (2004) 2709–2723.
- [229] V. Gieselmann, What can cell biology tell us about heterogeneity in lysosomal storage diseases? Acta Paediatr., Suppl. 94 (447) (2005) 80–86.
- [230] E. Conzelmann, K. Sandhoff, Partial enzyme deficiencies: residual activities the development of neurological disorders, Dev. Neurosci. 6 (1983/84) 58–71.
- [231] P. Leinekugel, S. Michel, E. Conzelmann, K. Sandhoff, Quantitative correlation between the residual activity of beta-hexosaminidase A arylsulfatase A the severity of the resulting lysosomal storage disease, Hum. Genet. 88 (1992) 513–523.
- [232] J. Rapola, Lysosomal storage diseases in adults, Pathol. Res. Pract. 190 (1994) 759–766.
- [233] J.P. Luzio, B.A. Rous, N.A. Bright, P.R. Pryor, B.M. Mullock, R.C. Piper, Lysosome–endosome fusion and lysosome biogenesis, J. Cell Sci. 113 (2000) 1515–1524.
- [234] A. Reddy, E.V. Caler, N.W. Andrews, Plasma membrane repair is mediated by Ca(2+)-regulated exocytosis of lysosomes, Cell 106 (2001) 157–169.
- [235] D. Klein, H. Büssow, S.N. Fewou, V. Gieselmann, Exocytosis of storage material in a lysosomal disorder, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 327 (2005) 663–667.
- [236] M. Taniike, I. Mohri, N. Eguchi, D. Irikura, Y. Urade, S. Okada, K. Suzuki, An apoptotic depletion of oligodendrocytes in the twitcher, a murine model of globoid cell leukodystrophy, J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 58 (1999) 644–653.
- [237] L.S. Finn, M. Zhang, S.H. Chen, C.R. Scott, Severe type II Gaucher disease with ichthyosis, arthrogryposis neuronal apoptosis: molecular pathological analyses, Am. J. Med. Genet. 91 (2000) 222–226.
- [238] M. Elleder, Sequelae of storage in Fabry disease-pathology and

comparison with other lysosomal storage diseases, Acta Paediatr., Suppl. 443 (2003) 46–53.

- [239] T. Miyatake, K. Suzuki, Globoid cell leukodystrophy: additional deficiency of psychosine galactosidase, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 48 (1972) 539–543.
- [240] D.S. Im, C.E. Heise, T. Nguyen, B.F. O'Dowd, K.R. Lynch, Identification of a molecular target of psychosine its role in globoid cell formation, J. Cell Biol. 153 (2001) 429–434.
- [241] T. Kanazawa, S. Nakamura, M. Momoi, T. Yamaji, H. Takematsu, H. Yano, H. Sabe, A. Yamamoto, T. Kawasaki, Y. Kozutsumi, Inhibition of Cytokinesis by a Lipid Metabolite, Psychosine, J. Cell Biol. 149 (2000) 943–950.
- [242] S. Tapasi, P. Padma, O.H. Setty, Effect of psychosine on mitochondrial function, Indian J. Biochem. Biophys. 35 (1998) 161–165.
- [243] O. Nilsson, L. Svennerholm, Accumulation of glucosylceramide glucosylsphingosine (psychosine) in cerebrum cerebellum in infantile juvenile Gaucher disease, J. Neurochem. 39 (1982) 709–718.
- [244] K. Toda, T. Kobayashi, I. Goto, K. Ohno, Y. Eto, K. Inui, S. Okada, Lysosulfatide (sulfogalactosylsphingosine) accumulation in tissues from patients with metachromatic leukodystrophy, J. Neurochem. 55 (1990) 1585–1591.
- [245] C. Rodriguez-Lafrasse, M.T. Vanier, Sphingosylphosphorylcholine in Niemann–Pick disease brain: accumulation in type A but not in type B, Neurochem. Res. 24 (1999) 199–205.
- [246] D.P. Purpura, K. Suzuki, Distortion of neuronal geometry and formation of aberrant synapses in neuronal storage disease, Brain Res. 116 (1976) 1–21.
- [247] S.U. Walkley, Cellular pathology of lysosomal storage disorders, Brain Pathol. 8 (1998) 175–193.
- [248] R. Wada, C.J. Tifft, R.L. Proia, Microglial activation precedes acute neurodegeneration in Sandhoff disease is suppressed by bone marrow transplantation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97 (2000) 10954–10959.
- [249] M. Jeyakumar, R. Thomas, E. Elliot-Smith, D.A. Smith, A.C. van der Spoel, A. d'Azzo, V.H. Perry, T.D. Butters, R.A. Dwek, F.M. Platt, Central nervous system inflammation is a hallmark of pathogenesis in mouse models of GM1 GM2 gangliosidosis, Brain 126 (2003) 974–987.
- [250] Y.P. Wu, R.L. Proia, Deletion of macrophage-inflammatory protein 1 alpha retards neurodegeneration in Sandhoff disease mice, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101 (2004) 8425–8430.
- [251] D.J. Sillence, F.M. Platt, Storage diseases: new insights into sphingolipid functions, Trends Cell. Biol. 13 (2003) 195–203.
- [252] C.S. Chen, M.C. Patterson, C.L. Wheatley, J.F. O'Brien, R.E. Pagano, Broad screening test for sphingolipid storage diseases, Lancet 354 (1999) 901–905.
- [253] E. Korkotian, et al., Elevation of intracellular glucosylceramide levels results in an increase in endoplasmic reticulum density and in functional calcium stores in cultured neurons, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 21673–21678.
- [254] L. Ginzburg, Y. Kacher, A.H. Futerman, The pathogenesis of glycosphingolipid storage disorders, Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 15 (2004) 417–431.
- [255] T. Lucke, W. Hoppner, E. Schmidt, S. Illsinger, A.M. Das, Fabry disease: reduced activities of respiratory chain enzymes with decreased levels of energy-rich phosphates in fibroblasts, Mol. Genet. Metab. 82 (2004) 93–97.
- [256] K. Suzuki, Enzymatic diagnosis of sphingolipidoses, Methods Enzymol. 138 (1987) 727–762.
- [257] R.J. Desnick, E.H. Schuchman, Enzyme replacement and enhancement therapies: lessons from lysosomal disorders, Nat. Rev., Genet. 3 (2002) 954–966.
- [258] M. Jeyakumar, R.A. Dwek, T.D. Butters, F.M. Platt, Storage solutions: treating lysosomal disorders of the brain, Nat. Rev., Neurosci. 6 (2005) 1–12.
- [259] T. Kolter, M. Wendeler, Chemical chaperones—A new concept in drug research, ChemBioChem 4 (2003) 260–264.
- [260] J.Q. Fan, A contradictory treatment for lysosomal storage disorders: inhibitors enhance mutant enzyme activity, Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 24 (2003) 355–360.

- [261] F.M. Platt, G.R. Neises, G. Reinkensmeier, M.J. Townsend, V.H. Perry, R.L. Proia, B. Winchester, R.A. Dwek, T.D. Butters, Prevention of lysosomal storage in Tay–Sachs mice treated with N-butyldeoxynojirimycin, Science 276 (1997) 428–431.
- [262] E.F. Neufeld, Enzyme replacement therapy, in: F.M. Platt, S.U. Walkley (Eds.), Lysosomal Disorders of the Brain, Oxford Univ. Press, Inc., New York, 2004, pp. 327–338, Chap. 13.
- [263] R.J. Desnick, Enzyme replacement and enhancement therapies for lysosomal diseases, J. Inherit. Metab. Dis. 27 (2004) 385–410.
- [264] K. Dobrenis, Cell-mediated delivery system, in: F.M. Platt, S.U. Walkley (Eds.), Lysosomal Disorders of the Brain, Oxford Univ. Press, Inc., New York, 2004, pp. 339–380, Chap. 14.
- [265] L.S. Shihabuddin, S. Numan, M.R. Huff, J.C. Dodge, J. Clarke, S.L. Macauley, W. Yang, T.V. Taksir, G. Parsons, M.A. Passini, F.H. Gage, G.R. Stewart, Intracerebral transplantation of adult mouse neural progenitor cells into the Niemann–Pick-A mouse leads to a marked decrease in lysosomal storage pathology, J. Neurosci. 24 (2004) 10642–10651.
- [266] M.A. Passini, E.B. Lee, G.G. Heuer, J.W. Wolfe, Distribution of a lysosomal enzyme in the adult brain by axonal transport and by cells of the rostral migratory stream, J. Neurosci. 22 (2002) 6437–6446.
- [267] W. Krivit, P. Aubourg, E. Shapiro, C. Peters, Bone marrow transplantation for globoid cell leukodystrophy, adrenoleukodystrophy, metachromatic leukodystrophy, and Hurler syndrome, Curr. Opin. Hematol. 6 (1999) 377–382.
- [268] W. Krivit, C. Peters, E.G. Shapiro, Bone marrow transplantation as effective treatment of central nervous system disease in globoid cell leukodystrophy, metachromatic leukodystrophy, adrenoleukodystrophy, mannosidosis, fucosidosis, aspartylglucosaminuria, Hurler, Maroteaux-Lamy, and Sly syndromes, and Gaucher disease type III, Curr. Opin. Neurol. 12 (1999) 167–176.
- [269] P.M. Hoogerbrugge, B.J. Poorthuis, A.E. Romme, J.J. van de Kamp, G. Wagemaker, D.W. van Bekkum, Effect of bone marrow transplantation on enzyme levels clinical course in the neurologically affected twitcher mouse, J. Clin. Invest. 81 (1988) 1790–1794.
- [270] E.H. Birkenmeier, J.E. Barker, C.A. Vogler, J.W. Kyle, W.S. Sly, B. Gwynn, B. Levy, C. Pegors, Increased life span correction of metabolic defects in murine mucopolysaccharidosis type VII after syngeneic bone marrow transplantation, Blood 78 (1991) 3081–3092.
- [271] W. Krivit, Allogeneic stem cell transplantation for the treatment of lysosomal and peroxisomal metabolic diseases, Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 26 (2004) 119–132.
- [272] M.S. Sands, Gene therapy, in: F.M. Platt, S.U. Walkley (Eds.), Lysosomal Disorders of the Brain, Oxford Univ. Press, Inc., New York, 2004, pp. 409–430, Chap. 16.
- [273] A. Biffi, L. Naldini, Gene therapy of storage disorders by retroviral and lentiviral vectors, Hum. Gene Ther. 16 (2005) 1133–1142.
- [274] N.M. Ellinwood, C.H. Vite, M.E. Haskins, Gene therapy for lysosomal storage diseases: the lessons and promise of animal models, J. Gene Med. 6 (2004) 481–506.
- [275] M.A. Gama Sosa, R. de Gasperi, S. Undevia, J. Yeretsian, S.C. Rouse II, T.A. Lyerla, E.H. Kolodny, Correction of the galactocerebrosidase deficiency in globoid cell leukodystrophy-cultured cells by SL3-3 retroviral-mediated gene transfer, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 218 (1996) 766–771.
- [276] A. Arfi, C. Bourgoin, L. Basso, C. Emiliani, B. Tancini, V. Chigorno, Y.T. Li, A. Orlacchio, L. Poenaru, S. Sonnino, C. Caillaud, Bicistronic lentiviral vector corrects beta-hexosaminidase deficiency in transduced and cross-corrected human Sandhoff fibroblasts, Neurobiol. Dis. 20 (2005) 583–593.
- [277] T. Ohashi, K. Watabe, K. Uehara, W.S. Sly, C. Vogler, Y. Eto, Adenovirusmediated gene transfer expression of human beta-glucuronidase gene in the liver, spleen, central nervous system in mucopolysaccharidosis type VII mice, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 94 (1997) 1287–1292.
- [278] C.S. Stein, A. Ghodsi, T. Derksen, B.L. Davidson, Systemic central nervous system correction of lysosomal storage in mucopolysaccharidosis type VII mice, J. Virol. 73 (1999) 3424–3429.

- [279] S. Martino, P. Marconi, B. Tancini, D. Dolcetta, M.G. De Angelis, P. Montanucci, G. Bregola, K. Sandhoff, C. Bordignon, C. Emiliani, R. Manservigi, A. Orlacchio, A direct gene transfer strategy via brain internal capsule reverses the biochemical defect in Tay–Sachs disease, Hum. Mol. Genet. 14 (2005) 2113–2123.
- [280] C. Bourgoin, C. Emiliani, E.J. Kremer, A. Gelot, B. Tancini, R.A. Gravel, C. Drugan, A. Orlacchio, L. Poenaru, C. Caillaud, Widespread distribution of beta-hexosaminidase activity in the brain of a Sandhoff mouse model after coinjection of adenoviral vector mannitol, Gene Ther. 10 (2003) 1841–1849.
- [281] E. Jarosch, U. Lenk, T. Sommer, Endoplasmic reticulum associated protein degradation, Int. Rev. Cytol. 223 (2003) 39–81.
- [282] A.R. Sawkar, W.C. Cheng, E. Beutler, C.H. Wong, W.E. Balch, J.W. Kelly, Chemical chaperones increase the cellular activity of N370S betaglucosidase: a therapeutic strategy for Gaucher disease, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 99 (2002) 15428–15433.
- [283] M.B. Tropak, S.P. Reid, G. Marianne, S.G. Withers, D.J. Mahuran, Pharmacological enhancement of beta-hexosaminidase activity in fibroblasts from adult Tay–Sachs and Sandhoff Patients, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 13478–13487.
- [284] T.D. Butters, R.A. Dwek, F.M. Platt, Imino sugar inhibitors for treating the lysosomal glycosphingolipidoses, Glycobiology 15 (2005) 43R–52R.
- [285] T.M. Cox, Acta Paediatr., Suppl. 94 (447) (2005) 69-75.
- [286] Y. Liu, R. Wada, H. Kawai, K. Sango, C. Deng, T. Tai, M.P. McDonald,

K. Araujo, J.N. Crawley, U. Bierfreund, K. Sandhoff, K. Suzuki, R.L. Proia, A genetic model of substrate deprivation therapy for a glycosphingolipid storage disorder, J. Clin. Invest. 103 (1999) 497–505.

- [287] T. Cox, R. Lachmann, C. Hollak, J. Aerts, S. van Weely, M. Hrebicek, F. Platt, T. Butters, R. Dwek, C. Moyses, I. Gow, D. Elstein, A. Zimran, Novel oral treatment of Gaucher's disease with N-butyldeoxynojirimycin (OGT 918) to decrease substrate biosynthesis, Lancet 355 (2000) 1481–1485.
- [288] D. Elstein, C. Hollak, J.M. Aerts, S. van Weely, M. Maas, T.M. Cox, R.H. Lachmann, M. Hrebicek, F.M. Platt, T.D. Butters, et al., Sustained therapeutic effects of oral miglustat (Zavesca, Nbutyldeoxynojirimycin, OGT, 918) in type I Gaucher disease, J. Inherit. Metab. Dis. 27 (2004) 57–766.
- [289] U. Andersson, D. Smith, M. Jeyakumar, T.D. Butters, M.C. Borja, R.A. Dwek, F.M. Platt, Improved outcome of N-butyldeoxygalactonojirimycinmediated substrate reduction therapy in a mouse model of Sandhoff disease, Neurobiol. Dis. 16 (2004) 506–515.
- [290] M. Jeyakumar, D.A. Smith, I.M. Williams, M.C. Borja, D.C. Neville, T.D. Butters, R.A. Dwek, F.M. Platt, NSAIDs increase survival in the Sandhoff disease mouse: synergy with N-butyldeoxynojirimycin, Ann. Neurol. 56 (2004) 642–649.
- [291] S.M. LeVine, T.V. Pedchenko, I.G. Bronshteyn, D.M. Pinson, L-cycloserine slows the clinical and pathological course in mice with globoid cell leukodystrophy (twitcher mice), J. Neurosci. Res. 60 (2000) 231–236.